
 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Materion Allanol a Deddfwriaeth 

Ychwanegol 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 2 - Y Senedd 

Dyddiad: Dydd Llun, 4 Mawrth 2019 

Amser: 14.00

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Alun Davidson 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddMADY@cynulliad.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat  

(13.45-14.00) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(14.00)   

2 Sesiwn graffu gyda Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau 

Rhyngwladol 

(14.00-15.00) (Tudalennau 1 - 51)  

Eluned Morgan AC, Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol 

Emma Edworthy, Llywodraeth Cymru 

Rachael Clancy, Llywodraeth Cymru 

3 Papurau i'w nodi 

(15.00-15.05)   

3.1 Papur i'w nodi 1 - Gohebiaeth gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion 

Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol i'r Prif Weinidog ynglŷn â chraffu ar 

ddeddfwriaeth sy'n gysylltiedig â Brexit - 6 Chwefror 2019  

 (Tudalennau 52 - 54) 

Graffu ar reoliadau o dan Ddeddf yr Undeb Ewropeaidd (Ymadael) 2018: 

Adroddiad cynnydd - Chwefror 2019 

3.2 Papur i'w nodi 2 - Gohebiaeth gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion 

Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol i'r Arglwydd Boswell ynghylch cysylltiadau 

rhyng-sefydliadol y DU a’r UE  ar ôl-Brexit - 12 Chwefror 2019 

 (Tudalennau 55 - 56)  

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------

http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12128/cr-ld12128-w.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12128/cr-ld12128-w.pdf


3.3 Papur i'w nodi 3 - Cydsyniad deddfwriaethol: y Bil Masnach - Gohebiaeth gan 

y Gweinidog dros Gysylltiadau Rhyngwladol i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch Bil 

Masnach y DU - Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol - 15 

Chwefror 2019 

 (Tudalennau 57 - 63)  

3.4 Papur i'w nodi 4 - Gohebiaeth gan y Farwnes Fairhead i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch 

y Bil Masnach - 19 Chwefror 2019 

 (Tudalen 64)  

3.5 Papur i'w nodi 5 - Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Cysylltiadau Rhyngwladol a'r 

Gymraeg i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch cytundebau rhyngwladol - 26 Chwefror 2019 

 (Tudalennau 65 - 120)  

4 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(vi) a (ix) i benderfynu gwahardd 

y cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod ac o eitem 1 yn y cyfarfod ar 11 

Mawrth 2019 

(15.05)   

5 Sesiwn graffu gyda Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau 

Rhyngwladol - ystyried y dystiolaeth 

(15.05-15.20)   

6 Amserlen ar gyfer trafod y Memorandwm Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol Atodol i'r Bil Masnach 

(15.20-15.50) (Tudalennau 121 - 145)  

7 Ystyried dull y Pwyllgor o graffu ar gytundebau rhyngwladol a 

osodwyd gerbron Senedd y DU 

(15.50-16.20) (Tudalennau 146 - 178)  

8 Ymweliad â Brwsel 

(16.20-16.30)   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 17

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



 

 

6 Chwefror 2019 

 

Annwyl Mark 

Craffu ar ddeddfwriaeth sy'n gysylltiedig â Brexit   

Atodaf gopi o'n hadroddiad, Craffu ar reoliadau o dan Ddeddf yr Undeb 

Ewropeaidd (Ymadael) 2018: Adroddiad cynnydd, a osodwyd gerbron y Cynulliad 

Cenedlaethol heddiw.   

Mae ein hadroddiad yn gofyn am eglurhad brys ar y dull y mae Llywodraeth Cymru 

yn ei gymryd ar hyn o bryd i ganiatáu i reoliadau gael eu gwneud mewn meysydd 

datganoledig gan Lywodraeth y DU a'r gwrthddywediad amlwg o ran y sefyllfa a 

nodir yn y Cytundeb Rhynglywodraethol ar Fil yr Undeb Ewropeaidd (Ymadael) a 

Sefydlu Fframweithiau Cyffredin.  

Hoffem hefyd weld gwelliant sylweddol yn ansawdd y datganiadau ysgrifenedig 

sy’n cael eu paratoi o dan Reol Sefydlog 30C. Byddem yn croesawu eich sylwadau 

ar ein casgliad y dylai pob Memorandwm Cydsyniad Offeryn Statudol sy'n 

gysylltiedig â Brexit fod yn ddarostyngedig i gynnig cydsyniad a gyflwynir gan 

Lywodraeth Cymru.  

Yn fwy cyffredinol, fel rhan o'n hadolygiad, fe wnaethom ystyried eich llythyr 

dyddiedig 11 Ionawr 2019 at y Llywydd. Mae gennym nifer o bryderon ynglŷn â’r 

llythyr hwn.  

 

Mark Drakeford AC 

Y Prif Weinidog 

Llywodraeth Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 52

Eitem 3.1



 

Rydym yn derbyn bod Brexit yn arwain at yr angen i wneud penderfyniadau anodd 

ond credwn fod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi dod yn or-ddibynnol ar Lywodraeth y DU 

i ddeddfu ar ei rhan. Er ein bod yn derbyn mai'r bwriad yw peidio â rhwystro na 

chyfyngu ar rôl y Cynulliad fel deddfwrfa, mae hynny'n anffodus yn dod yn realiti. 

Fel y mae ein hadroddiad a gohebiaeth arall yn amlygu, un o ganlyniadau 

anfwriadol y dull hwn oedd bod Gweinidogion Cymru yn caniatáu gostyngiad yng 

nghymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad Cenedlaethol.  

Yn eich llythyr, rydych yn tynnu sylw at raglen ddeddfwriaethol Llywodraeth 

Cymru. Fel yr ydym yn amlygu yn ein hadroddiad, Memorandwm Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol Llywodraeth Cymru ar y Bil Amaethyddiaeth, nododd Llywodraeth 

Cymru ym mis Gorffennaf 2018 fod angen iddi fod yn hyblyg ac addasu ei rhaglen 

ddeddfwriaethol oherwydd Brexit, gan nodi bod y pum Bil a gyflwynwyd yn:  

" caniatáu rhywfaint o slac inni er mwyn gallu rhyddhau adnoddau i ymdrin 

ag unrhyw Filiau, neu unrhyw ddeddfwriaeth arall, y bydd eu hangen o 

ganlyniad i Brexit." 

Am resymau nad ydynt yn glir, ymddengys y bu gweithredu croes i'r dull 

synhwyrol a phragmatig hwn: lle’r oedd amser yn cael ei gynnwys yn wreiddiol yn 

y broses i ymdrin â goblygiadau deddfwriaethol Brexit o fewn fframwaith 

datganoledig, mae'r amser hwnnw wedi peidio â bod ar gael.   

Mae'r sylw yn eich llythyr wedi cynyddu ein pryder na fyddai ond yn bosibl pasio’r 

Biliau Brexit angenrheidiol mewn pryd trwy ddilyn gweithdrefn gyflym a fyddai'n 

cyfyngu ar y gwaith o graffu arnynt gan y Cynulliad Cenedlaethol. Eto, mae'r dull a 

fabwysiadwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru o ran caniatáu i Lywodraeth y DU wneud 

deddfwriaeth sylfaenol ar ei rhan, mewn gwirionedd yn cynnig llai o waith craffu 

i’r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol na'r weithdrefn gyflym. Byddai'r weithdrefn hon, o leiaf, 

wedi caniatáu dadl ar egwyddorion cyffredinol Biliau a chyfnodau diwygio dilynol, 

nad ydynt ar gael drwy'r broses Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol o dan Reol Sefydlog 29.  

At hynny, mater i'r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol fel y ddeddfwrfa yw penderfynu sut y 

mae'n defnyddio amser y Cyfarfod Llawn i graffu ar Lywodraeth Cymru fel y 

weithrediaeth, yn hytrach na Llywodraeth Cymru ei hun.     

Tudalen y pecyn 53



 

Fel y dywed eich llythyr, mae'r amgylchiadau hyn yn eithriadol ond mae'n anffodus 

bod rôl y Cynulliad Cenedlaethol o ran llunio goblygiadau deddfwriaethol yr 

amgylchiadau hyn wedi ei hymyleiddio o ganlyniad i benderfyniadau a wnaed gan 

Lywodraeth Cymru.   

 

Rwyf yn anfon copi o’r llythyr hwn at y Llywydd, y Cwnsler Cyffredinol, y 

Gweinidog Cyllid a’r Trefnydd a Chadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Allanol a 

Deddfwriaeth Ychwanegol.  

 

Edrychaf ymlaen at gael ymateb cyn gynted â phosibl.  

Yn gywir  

   

 

 

Mick Antoniw 

Cadeirydd 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



 

 

 

11 February 2019 

 

Dear Lord Boswell  

Post-Brexit UK-EU interinstitutional relations, and the role of the devolved 
institutions  

Thank you for your letter of 25 January 2019.  

We have set our views on some of the issues posed in your questions in our 
report, UK governance post-Brexit, which we published in February last year and 
is enclosed.  

Two of our nine recommendations set out, for example, how we believe the Joint 
Ministerial Committee should be reformed in the short and long term.  

We also recommended that the National Assembly’s Llywydd seeks to establish,  
with the other Speakers and Presiding Officers of UK legislatures, a Speakers’ 
Conference. The aim of the Conference would be to determine how best to 
develop UK interparliamentary working (particularly as a means of scrutinising 
the impact of withdrawal from the European Union on the constitutional 
framework of the UK) and also to assess the state of inter-governmental relations,  
with a view to helping building consensus on reform.  

In order to assist the Llywydd with taking this idea forward, we recently 
commissioned Sir Paul Silk to consider how the Speakers’ conference might 
operate in practice and a copy of his report is also enclosed.   

We have also entered into an agreement with the Welsh Government to support  

Lord Boswell of Aynho  
Chairman  
European Union Committee   
House of Lords  

Tudalen y pecyn 55

Eitem 3.2



 

our scrutiny of its intergovernmental activity and this is due to be debated in a 
plenary session of the National Assembly in March. The agreement stems from a 
recommendation in UK governance post-Brexit and is also enclosed.  

I hope this information helps with your inquiry.   

I am copying this letter to David Rees AM, Chair of the External Affairs and 
Additional Legislation Committee in the National Assembly.  

Yours sincerely  

 

Mick Antoniw 
Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



Eluned Morgan AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol  
Minister for International Relations and the Welsh Language  

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref EM/0130/19 
 
David Rees AC (Cadeirydd) 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Allanol a Deddfwriaeth Ychwanegol 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 

Bae Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 
 

SeneddEAAL@assembly.wales 
 

 
 

15 Chwefror 2019 
 
 
 
 

Annwyl David 
 

 
Bil Masnach y DU – Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol 

 
Ysgrifennaf i roi gwybod ichi fy mod wedi gosod memorandwm cydsynio deddfwriaethol 
atodol ar y Bil Masnach, cyn cynnal trafodaeth ar y Cynnig Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol.  
 
Roedd y Pwyllgor Materion Allanol a Deddfwriaeth Ychwanegol, yn ogystal â'r Pwyllgor 
Materion Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol, wedi craffu ar y memorandwm cyntaf o'i fath. 
Fel y gwyddoch, ymddangosodd fy rhagflaenydd, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a 
Thrafnidiaeth, gerbron cyfarfod ar y cyd rhwng y ddau bwyllgor ar 12 Chwefror y llynedd 
(mewn perthynas â'r Bil hwn).       
 
Byddaf yn ymddangos gerbron eich Pwyllgor ar 4 Mawrth a fydd yn rhoi cyfle i'r Pwyllgor 
adolygu hynt y Bil Masnach.   
 
Atodaf gopi o'r Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol er gwybodaeth. Mae'n nodi 
sut yr aethpwyd i'r afael â'n pryderon drwy gyfuniad o ddiwygiadau i'r Bil ac ymrwymiadau 
pwysig anneddfwriaethol a roddwyd gan Lywodraeth y DU. Mae hefyd yn darparu manylion 
diwygiadau ychwanegol a wnaed i'r Bil. Rwyf hefyd yn fodlon darparu unrhyw wybodaeth 
bellach a fyddai o fudd i'ch pwyllgor.  
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 57

Eitem 3.3

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddEAAL@assembly.wales


 
 
Gobeithio y bydd yr wybodaeth hon o gymorth i chi. 
 

 
Eluned Morgan AC/AM 

Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol  
Minister for International Relations and the Welsh Language 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



 
MEMORANDWM CYDSYNIAD DEDDFWRIAETHOL ATODOL 

(MEMORANDWM RHIF 2) 
 

BIL MASNACH  
 

1. Gosodir y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol hwn o dan Reol 
Sefydlog ("RhS") 29.2. Mae RhS 29 yn rhagnodi bod rhaid gosod 
Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol, ac y caniateir cyflwyno Cynnig 
Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol, gerbron Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru os yw 
Bil Seneddol y DU yn gwneud darpariaeth mewn cysylltiad â Chymru at 
unrhyw bwrpas sy’n dod o fewn cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad 
Cenedlaethol, neu sy’n addasu'r cymhwysedd hwnnw. 

 
2. Cyflwynwyd y Bil Masnach (y "Bil") yn Nhŷ’r Cyffredin ar 7 Tachwedd 

2017. Symudwyd y Bil i Dŷ'r Arglwyddi ar 18 Gorffennaf 2018. Cewch 
weld y Bil yn:  

Dogfennau'r Bil — Bil Masnach 2017-19 — Senedd y DU  
 
Amcanion Polisi  
 

3. Yr amcanion polisi a nodir gan Lywodraeth y DU yw darparu dilyniant i 
fusnesau, gweithwyr a defnyddwyr ledled y DU a sefydlu'r DU fel cenedl 
fasnachu fyd-eang annibynnol. Er mwyn cefnogi hyn mae'r Bil yn gwneud 
darpariaeth ynghylch gweithredu cytundebau masnach rhyngwladol; 
sefydlu Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach a rhoi swyddogaethau iddo; ac 
yn gwneud darpariaeth ynghylch casglu a datgelu gwybodaeth sy'n 
ymwneud â masnach.  

 
Crynodeb o'r Bil  

 
4. Noddwr y Bil yw’r Adran Masnach Ryngwladol. 

 
5. Nid oes unrhyw newidiadau arwyddocaol i ffocws y Bil wedi'u gwneud ers 

ei gyflwyno. Mae pedwar prif swyddogaeth i'r Bil: 
 

• Mae'n rhoi pwerau i Weinidog y Goron a'r awdurdodau datganoledig 
wneud rheoliadau er mwyn gweithredu'r Cytundeb ar Gaffael gan 
Lywodraethau os bydd y DU yn aelod annibynnol o'r Cytundeb hwnnw 
ar ôl ymadael â'r UE; 

 

• Mae'n rhoi pwerau i Weinidog y Goron a'r awdurdodau datganoledig 
wneud cytundebau masnach rhynglwadol gyda thrydydd gwledydd 
sydd â chytundebau masnach sydd eisoes yn bodoli gyda'r UE; 
 

• Mae'n sefydlu Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach i weithredu fframwaith 
rhwymedïau masnach newydd y DU; 

 

• Mae'n sefydlu porth rhannu data rhwng Cyllid a Thollau Ei Mawrhydi a 
chyrff cyhoeddus a phreifat eraill. 

Tudalen y pecyn 59

https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2017-19/trade/documents.html


 
 
 

6. Dyma'r darpariaethau yn y Bil sy'n arbennig o berthnasol i Gymru: 
 

• Cymal 1 – (gweithredu'r Cytundeb ar Gaffael gan Lywodraethau).  
 

• Cymal 2 – (gweithredu cytundebau masnach ryngwladol). 
 
Nid ydym o'r farn bod Rhan 2 a 3 - (sefydlu'r Awdurdod Rhwymedïau 
Masnach; a Chasglu a rhannu gwybodaeth fasnach) yn gwneud 
darpariaeth at unrhyw ddiben sydd o fewn cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y 
Cynulliad, nac yn addasu'r cymhwysedd hwnnw.  

 
 

Darpariaethau yn y Bil y ceisir cydsyniad ar eu cyfer  
 

7. Rydym yn ystyried ei bod yn ofynnol rhoi cydsyniad ar gyfer Rhan 1 o'r 
Bil a'i Hatodlenni cysylltiedig ar y sail eu bod yn gwneud darpariaeth at 
ddiben sydd o fewn cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad. Mae'r 
cymalau a ganlyn y ceisir cydsyniad ar eu cyfer eisoes wedi'u nodi'n 
fanwl yn y memorandwm cydsyniad deddfwriaethol cyntaf (sydd i'w weld 
yma): Rhan 1, cymalau 1 i 4 ac atodlenni 1, 2 a 3.   

 
8. Pan gyflwynwyd y Bil Masnach yn gychwynnol, roedd Llywodraeth Cymru 

yn pryderu ynghylch agweddau arno a oedd yn dod o fewn cymhwysedd 
deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad ac a oedd yn syrthio y tu allan iddo.  
Aethpwyd i'r afael â hyn drwy welliannau neu ymrwymiadau a wnaed yn 
Senedd y DU. Fe'u nodir isod:  

 

• Pwerau cydredol yng nghymalau 1 a 2 - roeddem yn pryderu y 
gallai'r Bil fel y'i drafftiwyd weld Gweinidogion Cymru yn arfer pwerau 
cydredol mewn meysydd datganoledig heb gydsyniad Gweinidogion 
Cymru. Roeddem hefyd yn pryderu y gallai'r ddarpariaeth fachlud ar 
gyfer cymal 2 gael ei hymestyn heb ymgysylltu â Gweinidogion Cymru. 
Erbyn hyn, mae Senedd y DU wedi ymrwymo fel a ganlyn: 

o Ni fyddai Gweinidogion Llywodraeth y DU fel arfer yn defnyddio'r 
pwerau mewn meysydd datganoledig heb gydsyniad 
Gweinidogion Cymru. Mae hyn yn unol â'r dull a gymerwyd yn 
Neddf yr UE (Ymadael).  

o Ni fydd Llywodraeth y DU yn defnyddio'r pwerau i gyflwyno polisi 
newydd mewn meysydd datganoledig ac effeithlonrwydd 
gweinyddol fydd yn sbarduno'r gwaith yn bennaf.1 

o Ymgysylltu â'r gweinyddiaethau datganoledig cyn ymestyn y 
cyfnod y gellir defnyddio pwerau cymal 2 ynddo o dan y Bil.  

 

                                                 
1Mae Llywodraeth y DU wedi ymrwymo yn y Cytundeb Rhynglywodraethol i lynu wrth yr 
egwyddor hon wrth ddefnyddio ei bwerau cydredol dan y Ddeddf Ymadael. 

Tudalen y pecyn 60

file:///D:/Users/WilliamsG32/Objective/Objects/(http:/www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/lcm-ld11314/lcm-ld11314-e.pdf


• Cyfyngu ar allu Gweinidogion sy'n gyfrifol am y meysydd 
datganoledig i ddefnyddio'r pwerau gweithredu yn Rhan 1 o'r Bil - 
Roedd gennym bryderon nad oedd gan y Gweinidogion sy'n gyfrifol am 
y meysydd datganoledig yr un pwerau o dan y fersiwn flaenorol o'r Bil â 
Gweinidogion y DU o ran materion sy'n dod o dan y meysydd 
datganoledig. Ers hynny, mae diwygiadau wedi'u gwneud i'r Bil hwnnw: 

o dileu'r cyfyngiadau hollgynhwysfawr sy'n gwahardd 
Gweinidogion Cymru a'r Alban rhag (a) addasu cyfraith yr UE 
sy'n uniongyrchol gymwys y mae'r Bil yn ei hymgorffori yng 
nghyfraith y DU; a (b) gwneud darpariaeth nad yw'n gyson â 
mathau penodol o addasiadau a wnaed i'r corff o gyfraith hwnnw 
gan Senedd y DU neu Lywodraeth y DU.  

o dileu'r gofyniad i Weinidogion Cymru a'r Alban gael cydsyniad 
un o Weinidogion y DU cyn defnyddio'r pŵer gweithredu i wneud 
rheoliadau a fyddai'n dod i rym cyn y diwrnod ymadael, neu a 
fyddai'n cynnwys trefniadau cwota. Mae'r gwelliant yn ei gwneud 
yn ofynnol i Weinidogion sy'n gyfrifol am y meysydd 
datganoledig ymgynghori â Gweinidogion y DU yn lle.  

 

• Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach - Rydym o'r farn nad yw'r 
darpariaethau o ran Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach yn syrthio o fewn 
cymhwysedd ac rydym yn cynnwys yr wybodaeth hon yma er gwybodaeth 
yn unig.  Nod y gwelliant a gyflwynwyd gerbron Tŷ'r Arglwyddi a 
gefnogwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru oedd sefydlu'r Llywodraethau 
Datganoledig yn 'bartïon â buddiant' at ddibenion cael gwybod am 
ymchwiliadau, cael cyfle digonol i gyflwyno gwybodaeth i ymchwiliadau a 
chael gwybod am benderfyniadau.  Erbyn hyn, mae Senedd y DU wedi 
ymrwymo'n anneddfwriaethol at yr un ddibenion ac mae hynny wedi mynd 
ymhellach mewn mannau na gofynion y 'partïon â buddiant'. Mae hyn yn 
cynnwys:  

 
 

o Bydd yr Adran Masnach Ryngwladol yn cynghori'r 
gweinyddiaeth datganoledig pan fydd yr Awdurdod Rhwymedïau 
Masnach yn agor ymchwiliad. Bydd yn rhoi gwybod iddi fod 
angen gwneud penderfyniad ar a oes angen iddi gofrestru ei 
fuddiant yn yr achos neu beidio.  

o Bydd gweinyddiaeth ddatganoledig yn gallu cofrestru ei buddiant 
gyda'r Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach ac yna dod yn 
gyfrannwr.  

o Fel cyfrannwr, bydd y gweinyddiaeth ddatganoledig yn cael ei 
gwahodd gan yr Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach i gyflwyno 
gwybodaeth berthnasol y bydd yn rhaid iddo ei hystyried yn yr 
ymchwiliad fel y bo'n briodol.  

o Bydd yr Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach hefyd yn rhoi gwybod 
i gyfranwyr am unrhyw gamau y mae wedi'u cymryd.  

o Bydd yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol yn hysbysu'r gweinyddiaeth 
ddatganoledig o argymhellion yr Awdurdod Rhwymedïau 
Masnach ar yr un pryd ag adrannau ymgynghori'r llywodraeth fel 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



ei fod yn gallu mynegi barn cyn bod y penderfyniad terfynol yn 
cael ei wneud o ran derbyn ai peidio.   

o Bydd adroddiad blynyddol yr Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach 
yn cael ei rannu gyda'r gweinyddiaethau datganoledig ar ôl iddo 
gael ei dderbyn gan yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros yr Adran 
Masnach Ryngwladol. Bydd y gweinyddiaethau yn cael gosod 
gerbron eu deddfwrfeydd ar yr un pryd â bydd yr Ysgrifennydd 
Gwladol yn ei osod yn Senedd y DU. 

o Bydd yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol yn ceisio awgrymiadau gan y 
gweinyddiaethau datganoledig ar y ffyrdd gorau o recriwtio 
aelodau anweithredol o'r Awdurdod Rhwymedïau Masnach sydd 
â gwybodaeth, sgiliau a phrofiad rhanbarthol.  
 
 

9. Mae rhai gwelliannau pellach hefyd wedi'u gwneud i'r Bil y mae angen 
cydsyniad ar eu cyfer, ers y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol 
blaenorol. Fe'u nodir isod: 

 

• Diwygiadau i Gymal 1 (gweithredu'r Cytundeb ar Gaffael gan 
Lywodraethau (GPA)) - mae'r diwygiadau hyn yn creu pwerau i ddelio ag 
achosion lle y caiff newidiadau eu gwneud i restr y DU o awdurdodau'r 
llywodraeth ganolog yn y GPA, yr ystyriwn na fyddai'n anodd argymell 
cydsyniad ar eu cyfer.  

 

• Diwygiadau i Gymal 2 (gweithredu cytundebau masnach 
rhyngwladol) - mae'r diwygiadau hyn yn newid y weithdrefn ar gyfer 
Cymal 2 o'r negyddol i'r cadarnhaol, yn ymestyn y pŵer fel bod modd ei 
ddefnyddio i addasu deddfwriaeth uniongyrchol yr UE a ddargedwir i 
wneud is-ddeddfwriaeth a lleihau'r cyfnod y gellir defnyddio pwerau cymal 
2 ynddo o bump i tair blynedd (oni bai y caiff ei ymestyn). I'r graddau y 
mae'r newidiadau hyn yn gymwys i reoliadau sydd o fewn cymhwyster 
datganoledig, maent hwy hefyd o fewn cymhwysedd datganoledig. Nid 
ydym yn gweld y bydd yn anodd argymell cydsyniad i'r gwelliannau hyn. 

 

• Gwelliannau i baragraff 2, Atodlen 1.  Roedd y paragraff hwn yn 
cynnwys cyfyngiadau ar bwerau'r gweinyddiaethau datganoledig i wneud 
rheoliadau dan y Bil mewn ffordd debyg i'r cyfyngiadau ar bwerau'r 
gweinyddiaethau datganoledig yn y Bil Ymadael (fel ydoedd bryd hynny).  
Mae'r gwelliannau i'r paragraff hwn yn newid y cyfyngiadau i adlewyrchu'r 
rheini yn Neddf yr UE (Ymadael), a newidiwyd yn eu tro yn sgil cytundeb 
rhwng Llywodraethau Cymru a'r DU yn y Cytundeb Rhynglywodraethol a 
darpariaethau cysylltiedig Deddf yr UE (Ymadael).  Rydym yn fodlon â'r 
gwelliannau hyn o ystyried bod y Cynulliad Cenedlaethol wedi cytuno 
arnynt yng nghyd-destun Deddf yr UE (Ymadael) ac yn hapus i argymell 
bod cydsyniad yn cael ei roi. 

 

• Ychwanegu Cymal 6 (cyfranogiad y DU yn rhwydwaith rheoleiddio 
meddyginiaethau Ewrop) - Roedd y cymal hwn yn welliant gan yr 
wrthblaid a gafodd ei basio yn Nhŷ'r Cyffredin.  Rydym wedi trafod bod y 
cymal hwn o fewn cymhwysedd i'r graddau y mae'n ei gwneud yn ofynnol i 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



Weinidogion Cymru i weithredu unrhyw gytundeb masnach rhyngwladol o'r 
math a ddisgrifir, neu i gymryd pa bynnag gamau sy'n angenrheidiol o 
fewn cymhwyster datganoledig i alluogi Llywodraeth y DU i gwblhau 
cytundeb rhyngwladol o'r math a ddisgrifir. Rydym yn y dylai'r DU barhau i 
gymryd rhan yn y fframwaith rheoleiddio meddyginiaethau Ewrop ac felly 
rydym yn argymell bod cydsyniad yn cael ei roi.  

  
Pwerau i greu is-ddeddfwriaeth  
 

10. Schedule 2 provides for scrutiny by the UK Parliament and the devolved 
legislatures of regulations made under clauses 1 or 2. Regulations made 
under clause 1(1) by a Minister of the Crown or the Welsh Ministers 
acting either jointly or alone are subject to the negative procedure; for 
regulations made under clause 2(1) the procedure is affirmative.  

 
Cyfyngiadau ar bwerau Gweinidogion Cymru  
 

11. Fel y disgrifir uchod, yn y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol 
cyntaf, nodwyd ein pryderon ynghylch y pwerau cydredol sydd wedi'u 
cynnwys yn y Bil h.y. bod Gweinidogion Cymru a Gweinidog y Goron yn 
gallu gwneud rheoliadau mewn perthynas â Chymru ac o ran cyfyngu ar 
bwerau Gweinidogion Cymru. Fodd bynnag, credwn bod y gwelliannau a 
wnaed ers hynny i'r Bil, a'r ymrwymiadau anneddfwriaethol a wnaed gan 
Lywodraeth y DU yn Senedd y DU, wedi mynd i'r afael â'r pryderon hyn 
yn ddigonol.   

 
 
Rhesymau dros wneud y darpariaethau hyn ar gyfer Cymru yn y Bil 
Masnach  
 

12. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cytuno bod deddfwriaeth yn angenrheidiol er 
mwyn darparu eglurder a sicrwydd i fusnesau a defnyddwyr mewn 
perthynas â masnach wrth i ni ymadael â'r UE. Rydym yn derbyn y gallai 
achosion godi pan fyddai'n synhwyrol i Senedd y DU ddeddfu ar feysydd 
datganoledig, ond dylai hynny ddigwydd gyda chydsyniad y 
Llywodraethau Datganoledig yn unig. Yng nghyd-destun yr ymrwymiadau 
eraill a wnaed gan Lywodraeth y DU o ran y Bil, byddwn yn argymell bod 
y Cynulliad yn rhoi cyd-syniad deddfwriaethol.    

 
Goblygiadau ariannol  
 

13. Er nad oes goblygiadau ariannol uniongyrchol ar gyfer Llywodraeth 
Cymru na'r Cynulliad yn codi o'r pwerau o dan y Bil, bydd gan ein 
cydberthnasau masnachol yn y dyfodol oblygiadau ariannol sylweddol, o 
ran eu heffaith economaidd gyffredinol ac o ran y cyllid sy'n deillio o'r UE 
ar hyn o bryd, fel a nodir yn Diogelu Dyfodol Cymru. 

 
Casgliad  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



14. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru o'r farn ei bod yn briodol ymdrin â'r 
darpariaethau hyn yn y Bil DU hwn gan fod y Bil yn ymdrin â materion 
datganoledig a rhai nad ydynt wedi eu datganoli. O ran sicrhau 
cydlyniaeth, ystyrir mai deddfu drwy gyfrwng Bil ar gyfer y DU gyfan yw'r 
dull deddfwriaethol mwyaf effeithiol a chymesur o greu polisi masnach 
annibynnol ar gyfer y DU unwaith y bydd wedi ymadael â'r UE.  

 
 
Eluned Morgan AC 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol  
Chwefror 2019 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



Department for
lnternational Tiade

David Rees AM
Chair, External Affairs and Additional Legislation Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff C99 1NA

ffi

&*'r\-Ro¿r,

Baroness Fairhead

Department for International Trade
King Charles Street
Whitehall
London
SW,IA 2AH

T +44 (0) 20 7215 5000

E fairhead.correspondence@trade.oov.uk

W www.oov.uk

t1* February 201 9

Thank you for your letter of 1st February regarding the amendment to the House of Lord's
committee motion tabled by Baroness Smith of Basildon and the role of the devolved
legislatures in future free trade agreements.

I understand your concern for the role of devolved legislatures in future trade negotiations
and welcome your letter setting out your position.

The UK Government is committed to ensuring that future trade agreements deliver for all
parts of the United Kingdom and draw on the expertise of each of the devolved nations.
That is why we recently committed to establishing a new intergovernmental Ministerial
Forum to provide a formal mechanism for Devolved Government Ministers to discuss and
provide input to future trade negotiation.

It will be a matter for the National Assembly to consider appropriate arrangements for the
Assembly to scrutinise the role of the Welsh Government in future trade agreements whilst
of course the UK Government is accountable to the UK Parliament in Westminster.

I know that Minister Hollingbery was pleased to attend the External Affairs and Additional
Legislation Committee and discuss the Trade Bill. I am gratified to see that the Welsh
Government has now laid a supplementary LCM recommending consent to the bill,
reflecting the work we have done to address their concerns. I look forward to seeing your
full report on this role of devolved legislatures in in future trade agreements in due course

I am copying this letter to Lord Boswell, Baroness Taylor, Baroness Morgan of Ely and
Baroness Smith of Basildon.

.eate

Fairhead

Minister of State for Trade and Export Promotion

Department for lnternational Trade

Tudalen y pecyn 64

Eitem 3.4



Eluned Morgan AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol  
Minister for International Relations and the Welsh 
Language 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf: MA-P-EM-0493-19 
 
David Rees AC 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
 

 
 
 
 
 

26 Chwefror 2019  
 

 
 
Annwyl David,  
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 31 Ionawr 2019.  
 
Fel y nodwyd yn yr atodiad at lythyr yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros Ymadael â'r Undeb 
Ewropeaidd at yr Arglwydd Boswell, dyddiedig 25 Ionawr 2019, mae Brexit yn effeithio ar 
amrywiaeth eang o gytundebau rhyngwladol. Nid yw’r rhain i gyd yn dod o fewn fy mriff i ac 
mae Gweinidogion yn cadw’r cyfrifoldeb am gytundebau rhyngwladol sydd o fewn eu cylch 
gwaith nhw. Felly, dim ond â'r cytundebau hynny - neu fasnach ryngwladol - sy’n rhan o’m 
cyfrifoldebau i fel gweinidog y mae’r ymateb hwn yn ymdrin (gweler Atodiad A).  

 
Byddaf yn ymdrin â’ch ceisiadau yn unigol ond yn gyntaf hoffwn roi’r wybodaeth 
ddiweddaraf ichi am yr ymgysylltu rhwng yr Adran dros Fasnach Ryngwladol a Llywodraeth 
Cymru, er mwyn rhoi'r cyd-destun.    
 
Fel y byddwch yn gwybod, mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi parhau i bwyso am ymgysylltu 
effeithiol rhwng Llywodraeth y DU a’r llywodraethau datganoledig ynghylch pob cytundeb 
masnach; yn arbennig, rydym wedi galw am Gydgyngor Gweinidogion ar Fasnach 
Ryngwladol. Rwy’n gweld y cyhoeddiad diweddar gan Weinidogion Llywodraeth y DU yn 
Nhŷ'r Arglwyddi am eu bwriad i greu Cyd Fforwm Gweinidogion fel cam cadarnhaol iawn. 
Mae Grŵp Uwch Swyddogion wedi cwrdd ar dri achlysur erbyn hyn ac mae grwpiau bord 
gron sy’n ystyried polisi yn fanylach yn cael eu cynnal yn rheolaidd o dan y grŵp hwn.  
 
Cytundebau Masnach 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 65

Eitem 3.5

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Eluned.Morgan@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Eluned.Morgan@gov.wales


Mae eich llythyr yn gwahaniaethu’n briodol rhwng dwy raglen waith o eiddo Llywodraeth y 
DU sy’n cael eu harwain gan yr Adran dros Fasnach Ryngwladol: 
 

 Parhad Cytundebau Masnach - trosglwyddo o gytundebau masnach presennol yr 
UE, gan ddyblygu telerau'r cytundebau presennol cyn belled ag y mae hynny’n 
bosibl.  

 Cytundebau Masnach Rydd y Dyfodol - mae’r Adran dros Fasnach Ryngwladol wedi 
ymgynghori ar ei bwriad i negodi Cytundebau Masnach Rydd gydag Awstralia, 
Seland Newydd ac UDA a’i bwriad i geisio cael mynediad i Gytundeb Cynhwysfawr a 
Chynyddol y Bartneriaeth Draws-Basiffig. 

 
Parhad Cytundebau Masnach 
 
Byddwch yn gwybod bod yna oddeutu 40 o gytundebau masnach gyda mwy na 70 o 
wledydd y byddai angen eu hatgynhyrchu erbyn y diwrnod ymadael mewn senario ‘dim 
cytundeb’ i sicrhau bod y DU yn cynnal y berthynas fasnachu sy’n bodoli ar hyn o bryd 
gyda’r gwledydd hyn. Yn gyfan gwbl, mae nwyddau sy’n cael eu hallforio o Gymru yn werth 
tua 10% o’n holl allforion (ar ben y 61% o’n hallforion sy’n mynd i 27 yr UE). Ein partneriaid 
masnachu pwysicaf o fewn y grŵp hwn yw Canada, De Korea, y Swistir, Twrci, Norwy a De 
Affrica; mae Atodiad B Tabl 1 yn rhoi'r data am y masnachu rhwng Cymru a’r gwledydd 
hyn. 
 
Mae swyddogion yr Adran dros Fasnach Ryngwladol a’m swyddogion i mewn cyswllt 
rheolaidd ynglŷn â Pharhad Cytundebau Masnachu - rydym yn cael diweddariadau 
wythnosol ar statws y cytundebau hyn ac mae uwch swyddogion yn cael sgyrsiau mwy 
manwl am y pwnc penodol hwn bob tair wythnos. Ar lefel Gweinidogion, rwyf i (a’m 
rhagflaenydd, y Gweinidog dros yr Economi a Thrafnidiaeth) wedi cael trafodaethau 
rheolaidd dros y ffôn â’r Gweinidog Gwladol dros Bolisi Masnach, George Hollingbery, lle 
rhoddir sylw i brosiectau ‘dim cytundeb’ fel hyn. Gweler Atodiad C am gopïau o ohebiaeth 

benodol rhwng yr Adran dros Fasnach Ryngwladol a Llywodraeth Cymru ar Barhad 
Cytundebau Masnach.   
 
Ar adeg ysgrifennu’r llythyr hwn, mae Llywodraeth y DU wedi cytuno ar gytundebau 
dwyochrog gyda’r Swistir, Chile, Ynysoedd Faroe a Gwladwriaethau Dwyrain a De Affrica 
(ESA)1.  Mae Atodiad B Tabl 2 yn rhoi data am y masnachu rhwng Cymru a’r gwledydd 
hyn tra mae Tabl 3 yn rhoi data am y cytundebau eraill sydd wedi’u rhestru yn llythyr yr 
Arglwydd Boswell. 
 
Cytundebau Masnach y Dyfodol 
 
Ymatebodd Llywodraeth Cymru yn ffurfiol i ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth y DU ynghylch 
Cytundebau Masnach Rydd y dyfodol. Mae copïau o’n hymateb ynghlwm yn Atodiad D.  
Bydd Atodiad D yn rhoi ymateb y Gweinidogion ichi, yn cynnwys llythyr Gweinidogol, 
ymateb y sector, ymateb y wlad a data masnachu perthnasol i Gymru.  
 
Cynnig Tŷ'r Arglwyddi 
 

Canlyniad y cynnig gan y Farwnes Smith o Basildon a’r gwelliant a gyflwynwyd yn sgil 
hynny gan y Farwnes Fairhead yw na all y Bil Masnach symud ymlaen i’r Cyfnod Adrodd 
nes bydd Llywodraeth y DU wedi cyflwyno cynigion i’r ddau Dŷ ar broses er llunio 
cytundebau masnach ryngwladol unwaith y bydd y Deyrnas Unedig mewn sefyllfa i wneud 
hynny’n annibynnol ar yr Undeb Ewropeaidd, yn cynnwys rôl i Senedd y DU a'r 

                       
1 Mae gwladwriaethau’r ESA yn cynnwys Ynysoedd Comoros, Madagascar, Mauritius, Seychelles, Zambia a Zimbabwe 
(llofnododd y Comoros gytundeb Partneriaeth Economaidd gyda’r UE ym mis Gorffennaf 2018 sydd yn y broses o gael ei 
ddilysu ar hyn o bryd. Nid yw Zambia wedi llofnodi hyd yma. Tudalen y pecyn 66



deddfwriaethau a’r gweinyddiaethau datganoledig o ran mandad negodi a hefyd o ran 
cytundeb terfynol.  Er fy mod yn croesawu’r cynnig a’i gyfeiriad at y sefydliadau 
datganoledig, rwyf o’r farn fod y cyfrifoldeb am ymateb iddo yn gorffwys yn gadarn gyda 
Llywodraeth y DU. Rydym yn rhannu barn Tŷ'r Arglwyddi ei bod yn hen bryd inni gael 
datganiad clir ar sut mae’r Llywodraeth yn bwriadu cynnwys Senedd y DU a’r sefydliadau 
datganoledig mewn deialog ac ymgynghori priodol. Fel Llywodraeth, rydym wedi mynegi ein 
barn yn glir am sut y dylai Llywodraeth y DU a’r Gweinyddiaethau Datganoledig weithio 
gyda’i gilydd i ddatblygu polisi masnach sy’n addas i'r diben ar gyfer y DU gyfan (cyfeiriaf 
chi yn ôl at Y Polisi Masnach: Materion Cymru). Rwyf yn credu bod cynnydd yn cael ei 
wneud ac fel yr wyf wedi crybwyll o’r blaen, rwy’n mawr groesawu’r ymrwymiad gan 
Lywodraeth y DU i Gyd Fforwm Gweinidogion ac i ddatblygu concordat a fydd yn manylu’n 
benodol ar sut y bydd yr Adran dros Fasnach Ryngwladol a’r Gweinyddiaethau 
Datganoledig yn gweithio gyda’i gilydd ar gytundebau masnach y DU yn y dyfodol gyda 
gwledydd eraill ar ôl inni adael yr UE.   
 
Fel Llywodraeth, rydym yn cefnogi rôl gryfach i Senedd y DU a'r Cynulliad i graffu ar 
Gytundebau Rhyngwladol, a chredwn fod angen gwell cydweithio rhwng seneddau i fynd i’r 
afael â hyn.  Mae hwn yn fater y dylai’r Cynulliad ei hun ei symud ymlaen yn uniongyrchol 
gyda Senedd y DU ac felly rwy’n cefnogi’r ffordd yr ydych chi am estyn allan i’r Farwnes 
Fairhead.  
 
Trefniadau interim i ddarparu adroddiadau ar Barhad Cytundebau Masnach 

 
Fel yr wyf eisoes wedi nodi, mae nifer a chwmpas y cytundebau masnach ryngwladol y mae 
Llywodraeth y DU yn gobeithio trosglwyddo ohonynt mewn pryd erbyn y diwrnod ymadael 
yn sylweddol. Rydym ar dir cwbl newydd ac mae’r swyddogion o dan gryn bwysau i sicrhau 
bod buddiannau Cymru yn cael eu gwarchod. Gyda hynny mewn golwg, nid wyf yn meddwl 
y bydd yn bosibl gweithio i’r amserlen yr ydych chi’n ei chynnig, ond byddwn yn awyddus 
iawn i gwrdd â chi i drafod ffordd ymlaen sy’n taro gwell cydbwysedd rhwng yr angen i 
barhau i roi gwybodaeth ddiweddaru i’r Cynulliad a’r amserlenni byr iawn, na welwyd eu 
tebyg, sy’n ein hwynebu a’r goblygiadau amlwg o ran adnoddau. 
 
Yn olaf, hoffwn wrth gwrs dderbyn eich gwahoddiad i barhau â’n trafodaethau mewn sesiwn 
bellach o’r Pwyllgor ar 4 Mawrth 2019. Hefyd, credaf y byddai’n fuddiol cwrdd cyn y sesiwn 
hon a byddaf yn gofyn i’m Swyddfa i gysylltu â’ch un chi i drefnu.  
 
Yn gywir, 

 
Eluned Morgan AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol  
Minister for International Relations and the Welsh Language 
 
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 67



 
Atodiad A 
 
Cytundebau Dwyochrog y mae’r DU wedi’u llofnodi neu y mae’n bwriadu’u llofnodi’n 
fuan (enw’r darpar gytundeb rhwng y DU - y Drydedd Wlad) 
  

 Cytundeb Partneriaeth Economaidd rhwng y DU a Gwladwriaethau Dwyrain a De Affrica 
(ESA EPA).   
 

 Cytundeb Masnach Rydd rhwng y DU a Theyrnas Denmarc o ran Ynysoedd Faroe. 
 

 Cytundeb yn sefydlu perthynas rhwng y DU a Gweriniaeth Chile.   
 

 Cytundeb Partneriaeth Economaidd rhwng Gwladwriaethau CARIFORUM a’r Deyrnas 
Unedig (CARIFORUM EPA).   
 

 Cytundeb Masnach rhwng y DU a’r Cydffederasiwn Swisaidd.  
 

 Cytundeb Gwleidyddol, Masnach a Phartneriaeth Interim y DU-Sefydliad Rhyddhau 
Palesteina.   
 

 Cytundeb Economaidd a Masnach Cynhwysfawr Canada-y DU. 
 

 Cytundeb Partneriaeth rhwng y DU a Gwladwriaethau’r Môr Tawel.  
 

 Cytundeb Partneriaeth Economaidd Undeb Tollau’r DU a Rhan Ddeheuol Affrica a 
Mozambique ((SACU+M)EPA)  
 

 Cytundeb Masnach y DU-Norwy a Gwlad yr Iâ.  
 
 
 
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 68



Annex B  
 
Tabl 1- Y cytundebau pwysicaf ar gyfer Masnach Cymru  

Gwlad 
Allforion  Cymreig  
(£m) 

Canran o 
Gyfanswm 
Allforion Cymru 

Mewnforion 
Cymreig (£m) 

Canran o 
Gyfanswm 
Mewnforion Cymru 

          

Canada 404.4 2.4% 501.4 2.8% 

Twrci 372.5 2.2% 443.9 2.5% 

De Corea  259.3 1.5% 345.6 1.9% 

Y Swistir 144.4 0.9% 147.4 0.8% 

Norwy 79.6 0.5% 380.6 2.1% 

De Affrica 53.7 0.3% 143.5 0.8% 

Algeria 8.6 0.1% 671.6 3.7% 

Ffynhonnell: Dadansoddiad Llywodraeth Cymru o ‘ HMRC Regional Trade in Goods Statistics’. 

Mae'r data'n cyfeirio at y flwyddyn yn diweddu Medi 2018. 

Tabl 2- Cytundebau a lofnodwyd gan Lywodraeth y DU 

Gwlad  
Allforion  
Cymreig (£m) 

Canran o 
Gyfanswm 
Allforion Cymru 

Mewnforion 
Cymreig (£m) 

Canran o 
Gyfanswm 
Mewnforion 
Cymru 

          

Chile 6.0 0.04% 9.0 0.05% 

ESA:         

Comoros Dim ar gael  - Dim ar gael - 

Madagascar Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Mauritius 0.7 
 

5.1 
 Seychelles Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Zambia Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Zimbabwe Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Ynysoedd 
Faroe 

Dim ar gael 
- 

Dim ar gael 
- 

Y Swistir 144.4 0.85% 147.4 0.82% 

Ffynhonnell: Dadansoddiad Llywodraeth Cymru o ‘ HMRC Regional Trade in Goods Statistics’. 

Mae'r data'n cyfeirio at y flwyddyn yn diweddu Medi 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Tudalen y pecyn 69



Tabl 3- Cytundebau mae Llywodraeth y DU yn gweithio tuag at arwyddo 

Gwlad 
Allforion Cymreig 
(£m) 

Canran o 
Gyfanswm 
Allforion Cymru 

Mewnfoweforion 
Cymreig (£m) 

Canran o 
Gyfanswm 
Mewnforion 
Cymru 

          

Palestenia Dim ar gael  - Dim ar gael -  

          

CARIFORUM:         

          

Antigua & Berbuda Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Bahamas Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Barbados Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Belize Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Dominica Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Y Weriniaeth 
Ddominican 7.2 0.04% 0.9 0.00% 

Grenada Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Guyana Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Haiti Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Jamaica Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Sant Lucia Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Sant Vincent Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Granadines Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Saint Kitts & Nevis Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Suriname Dim ar gael - Dim ar gael - 

Israel 38.3 0.23% 32.9 0.18% 

Ffynhonnell: Dadansoddiad Llywodraeth Cymru o ‘ HMRC Regional Trade in Goods Statistics’. 

Mae'r data'n cyfeirio at y flwyddyn yn diweddu Medi 2018. 

  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 70



                                                                        
Rt Hon Greg Hands MP 
 
Department for International Trade 
King Charles Street 
Whitehall 
London  
SW1A 2AH 

  

 

  

 
T 

E 

W 

+44 (0) 20 7215 5000 

enquiries@trade.gsi.gov.uk  

www.gov.uk  

 
 
 
 
 
 

               
 
                   7 November 2017 

Ken Skates AM 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Transport 
Welsh Government 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1NA 
  

 
  

 
 
 

 
Dear Ken, 
 
I am writing to provide you with an update on the UK Government's progress in bringing 
forward legislation to establish a standalone UK trade framework once we leave the EU.   
 
Today the Government introduced the Trade Bill and tabled resolutions for the Taxation 
(Cross-Border Trade) Bill. This legislation will put in place the necessary legal powers and 
structures to enable us to operate a fully functioning trade policy. This will ensure the UK is 
ready for exit, providing continuity for individuals, businesses, and international trading 
partners. 
 
As the Secretary of State wrote in his letter of 9 October alongside the publication of our White 
Paper, we are seeking to deliver the best international trading framework across the whole of 
the UK, and will continue to engage closely with the Welsh Government as we develop our 
future trade policy.  
   
The legislation that we are introducing today will: 
  

 Create the powers needed for the UK to implement the obligations created by becoming 
an independent member of the Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA), 
ensuring the best deal for taxpayers and creating opportunities for UK businesses. It 
also allows the UK to reflect in legislation where parties join or leave the GPA; 

 

 Create powers to help the UK to adopt trade agreements that currently exist between 
the EU and other countries, and which we are party to through our EU membership;  

 

 Establish an independent body (the Trade Remedies Authority) to conduct trade 
remedies investigations, providing a safety net for domestic industries against unfair 
and injurious trade practices, or unexpected surges in imports, consistent with our legal 
obligations at the World Trade Organization (WTO);  
 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 71

mailto:enquiries@trade.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/


 

 

 Enable HM Revenue and Customs to share data on trade so the Secretary of State for 
International Trade can carry out other functions currently fulfilled by the European 
Commission, and share data with other bodies carrying out public functions, such as 
the Trade Remedies Authority and the WTO. 

 
In the letter of 9 October the Secretary of State outlined the areas of this legislation that would 
be of particular interest to the Welsh Government, and my officials have since shared a draft of 
the Trade Bill with you.  
 
As we are now introducing this legislation I would like to provide you with a further update to 
explain its importance to the whole of the UK, and to address some of the issues that have 
been raised in discussions. 
 
Transitional adoption 
Without action, the UK’s existing trading arrangements through its membership of the EU will 
cease to have legal effect. These agreements facilitate easier movement of goods and 
services with some of the UK’s major markets outside the EU, help promote investment, and 
bring direct benefits to UK businesses and consumers.  
 
The UK Government has begun to discuss with our trading partners how we might achieve 
continuity in the effects of these agreements, and therefore provide certainty for businesses, 
through agreeing post-exit arrangements with partner countries before the UK leaves the EU. 
 
Currently, many provisions of EU agreements take effect in the UK by virtue of the European 
Communities Act 1972 (ECA).  This will be repealed by the EU (Withdrawal) Bill, and the UK 
will need to implement relevant individual obligations itself. We therefore need to build a new 
legislative framework to ensure that our existing trade agreements are fully implemented within 
UK law and remain operable over time. Importantly, the powers that we are taking to do this 
can only be used to implement trade agreements where the EU and the relevant third country 
have already signed a trade agreement before exit day. 
 
The power in the Trade Bill is intended to provide for non-tariff provisions of trade agreements.  
Powers in the Taxation (Cross-Border Trade) Bill provide for the tariff provisions.  
Implementation of some of the non-tariff aspects of these agreements may touch on devolved 
competence.  As set out previously, the powers provided by the Bill will be held concurrently 
by the UK Government and the devolved administrations. This means that in areas of 
devolved competence either the devolved administrations or the UK Government will be able 
to use these powers to ensure that trade obligations are fully implemented. I want to assure 
you that the UK Government will not normally use these powers within areas of devolved 
competence without the agreement of the relevant devolved administrations, and not without 
first consulting the relevant devolved administrations.  The ability to use these powers 
concurrently, after consultation, will ensure that where it makes practical sense for regulations 
to be made once for the whole UK, it is possible for this to happen. 
 
This power cannot be used by the devolved administrations to amend retained direct 
applicable EU law, such as retained EU regulations. This law currently applies automatically 
and uniformly in all EU member states. As the Government’s guiding principle is that no new 
barriers to living and doing business in our own union should be created on exiting the EU, it is 
right that there should be a coordinated set of changes made to this type of law in order to 
maximise continuity and certainty. Under the Trade Bill, every decision that the devolved 
administrations can make before exit, they will be able to make after exit. The UK Government 
is committed to consulting the devolved administrations on the most appropriate way to 
implement in areas of retained direct EU law that have effect in otherwise devolved areas. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 72



 

 

 
 
Government Procurement Agreement 
The GPA is a plurilateral agreement between 19 WTO Members, including many of the major 
economies such as the United States, Canada, the EU and Japan. It aims to mutually open 
government procurement markets among its parties, and seeks to address trade barriers, such 
as preferential treatment of domestic goods and services, in the government procurement 
sector.  
 
It provides businesses across the UK with access to public contract opportunities collectively 
estimated as worth some £1.3 trillion annually. It also benefits public services due to increased 
choice, competition and value for money where the Government has chosen to open 
procurement opportunities up to international competition.  
 
The UK currently participates in the GPA via our EU membership. However, without action we 
will exit the GPA once we leave the EU. This would be to the detriment of businesses across 
the UK who depend upon guaranteed access to overseas public contract opportunities, as well 
as to public sector contractors seeking the best value for money for the taxpayer. The power 
will ensure that the UK can make the changes to existing domestic procurement regulations 
required to join the GPA, and to reflect new accessions to or withdrawals from the agreement. 
 
This GPA clauses will establish concurrent powers for the UK Government and the devolved 
administrations, who will be able to use the power to legislate. This means that in areas of 
devolved competence, either the devolved administrations or the UK Government will be able 
to use these powers to implement GPA obligations arising from the UK becoming an 
independent GPA member. As with the transitional adoption power, I want to assure you that 
the UK Government will not normally use these powers within devolved competence without 
the agreement of the relevant devolved administrations, and not without first consulting the 
relevant devolved administrations. As with the transitional adoption power, this approach is 
essential to provide continuity for UK businesses and contracting authorities. 
 
As with the transitional adoption power, this power cannot be used by the devolved 
administrations to amend directly applicable EU law. I want to assure you we are committed to 
consulting the devolved administrations on the most appropriate way to implement in areas of 
retained direct EU law that have effect in otherwise devolved areas.  
 
Trade remedies 
Under WTO rules, Members can put in place trade remedies, through imposition of tariffs, to 
correct the injury suffered by domestic industry as a result of unfairly traded imports; or any 
serious injury through unforeseen surges in imports. Currently the European Commission 
undertakes trade remedies investigations, and imposes any remedies, on behalf of Member 
States, including the UK. Once we leave the EU, we will no longer be part of this process. To 
ensure that we can continue to provide a safety net to domestic industries, the Trade Bill will 
create a new, independent UK trade remedies body – the Trade Remedies Authority - to 
undertake trade remedies investigations.  
 
After we leave the EU, businesses across the UK will be able to make an application to the 
Trade Remedies Authority where they believe that injurious imports arriving in the UK are 
being dumped or subsidised, or there is a surge in imports, and this is causing serious injury to 
their sector.  The Trade Remedies Authority will investigate applications and make 
recommendations for the imposition of duties based on the evidence obtained. As part of that 
process, the Authority will consider the impact of measures on different groups across the UK, 
including any regional or distributional considerations.  

Tudalen y pecyn 73



 

 

There is more work to be done on developing the detail of the regime, and officials will work 
with interested parties, including those in the devolved administrations, as this work 
progresses. 
 
In preparation for our exit from the EU, we need to consider which of the existing EU trade 
remedies measures are important to the UK, and which we will therefore maintain following 
our departure.  We will be issuing a call for evidence, asking UK businesses which produce 
goods covered by measures to apply to have these measures carried forward where they 
meet certain requirements.  I would welcome you encouraging Welsh businesses to input into 
this exercise. 
 
Legislative Consent Motions 
It is our view that Part 1 and Schedules 1 to 3 of the Trade Bill may touch on devolved 
competence and are likely to engage the legislative consent procedure in the Welsh 
Assembly. I recognise though that we will need to work closely on this issue and my officials 
will continue to engage with yours to address any concerns.   
 
I would be grateful if you could indicate whether you agree with this legislative consent 
analysis and confirm whether you are content to bring forward an LCM for these measures. 
 
Future trade policy 
As you will be aware, the legislation introduced today does not include powers relating to trade 
agreements with countries other than the EU’s existing trade agreement partners. As set out in 
the Trade White Paper, the UK government will seek the input of all interested parties and the 
devolved administrations to ensure they influence the UK’s future trade policy.  We look 
forward to taking forward more detailed discussions with you on the important role that you will 
play in future trade agreements and their implementation in due course.  
 
I look forward to continuing to work with you on this important legislation that will provide 
continuity to the whole of the UK, ensuring that businesses, workers and consumers can 
continue to enjoy the benefits of free trade. My officials will maintain a close dialogue with 
yours as the Bill progresses through parliament so that we can work together on securing a 
standalone trade framework for all of the UK.  
 
I have copied this letter to the First Secretary of State, the Secretary of State for Wales, the 
Secretary for Finance and Local Government, and the Secretary for Environment and Rural 
Affairs. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
                                               

RT HON GREG HANDS MP 

Minister of State for Trade Policy and Minister for London 

     Department for International Trade  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 74



Tudalen y pecyn 75



Tudalen y pecyn 76



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Carwyn Jones AC/AM 
 Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

  
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

YP.PrifWeinidog@llyw.cymru • ps.firstminister@gov.wales   
 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 
fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 
corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: IM/FM -/ 
 
          
Rt Hon Dr Liam Fox MP 
Secretary of State for International Trade and 
President of the Board of Trade 
 
Fox.correspondence@trade.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
November 2018  

 
 
Dear Liam  
 
I am writing to provide the Welsh Government’s views on your proposed trade 
negotiations with Australia, New Zealand, and the USA and the proposed accession 
to the Comprehensive and Progressive Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP). I would 
like to stress that this response is by no means our final thoughts and I would request 
that your officials engage closely with mine so that we are able to continue to feed in 
as your thinking on these trade negotiations develops.  

Whilst we recognise that international trade policy is not a devolved matter there is a 
clear interplay between trade and many aspects of devolved competence such as 
economic development, agriculture, environment, health skills and qualifications. It is 
critically important that the Devolved Governments are closely engaged in the 
development of trade policy going forward.  

Trade Policy: the issues for Wales stated very clearly that Wales is an outward 
facing, globally trading nation and we fully support the benefits of rules based 
international trade1. Additionally in Prosperity for All: economic action plan we 
highlight our belief that there is significant untapped potential for trade with the rest of 
the world and we want to proactively support this2. However it is important to stress 
that the vast majority of Welsh trade is transacted with the EU and not the countries 
highlighted in this consultation exercise.  60% of Welsh goods exports go to the EU 
and just under half of our imports are from the EU. In comparison, data for the year to 
                       
1 https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/2018-01/180202-trade-policy-the-issues-for-wales.PDF 
2 https://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/171213-economic-action-plan-en.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



Quarter 2 2018 shows that exports to New Zealand were just 0.1% and to Australia 
0.9% while CPTPP countries accounted for 6.7%.  

The UK’s membership of the European Union has led to business, supply chain and 
trading patterns which have built up slowly and profitably over more than four 
decades.  These relationships will not be easily changed overnight and we should be 
mindful of the potential damage that could be done to key sectors of our economy in 
the transition to any new trading agreements. 

Of the countries you are consulting on the USA is by far the most important in terms 
of current Welsh trade flows.  13.2 % of Welsh exports are to the US but even this is 
modest in comparison with the importance of the EU market.  Moreover, it is likely 
that these figures overstate the true value to the Welsh economy of trade with the US 
since a significant proportion of these exports were in oil related products where little 
additional processing is undertaken in Wales to add value.   

Trade gravity helps explain why Wales trades more with Europe than the rest of the 
world. It is very unlikely that, in the short term, free trade deals with these countries – 
even the USA- could compensate for the loss of full and unfettered access to the 
Single Market. Any such suggestions would need to be supported by convincing 
evidence; evidence that we have yet to see. We would also like to propose that much 
can be done to improve trade with these countries outside of a formal Free Trade 
Agreement (FTA), for instance we would like to see the UK Government prioritising 
gaining access for UK beef and lamb to the US market.  

As you will know, the Welsh Government’s position is that we must retain full and 
unfettered access to the EU Single Market and remain in a customs union, at least 
for the foreseeable future.  We have still not seen any evidence from the UK 
Government that leaving a customs union would be in the economic interests of 
Wales. The business community in Wales has been very clear that they urgently 
need clarity and certainty from the UK Government to avoid any disruption to existing 
trade flows. There is already evidence in Wales of delayed investment decisions and 
investment being made in the EU rather than Wales to protect access to the EU 
market. In simple terms this translates to lost job opportunities in Wales, something 
that is simply unacceptable.  

Participation in CPTPP is therefore of particular concern given that we can not 
currently see how it is compatible with an EU deal that retains full and unfettered 
access to the single market. 

More generally, the fact that our exports to the countries where FTAs are under 
consideration are generally small does not mean that such agreements would have 
no impact on Welsh businesses. Negotiated in the wrong way, FTAs with Australia 
and New Zealand could have severely detrimental effects on our agri-food 
businesses and consequently on social and environmental conditions of communities 
across the whole of Wales.   

Tudalen y pecyn 78



As a Government we have consulted widely with stakeholders across Wales, be they 
large multinationals or Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), and many of the 
important messages they have fed back to us are reflected in the evidence we submit 
to you today.  What is clear is that any agreements with the proposed priority 
countries should not be to the detriment to our trading relationship with the EU – in 
other words, these proposed FTAs should be seen as complimentary to and not 
substitutes for our trading relationship with the EU. The messages from our 
stakeholders support the economic concept that countries trade more with near 
neighbours than countries further afield. With this in mind it is difficult to see why the 
UK Government is prioritising this list of countries for new trade deals; the immediate 
focus should be on securing a good trade deal with the EU.   

Furthermore, many companies based in Wales are part of integrated supply-chains 
across the EU and Wales’ success in attracting Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) over 
many decades is largely based on access to the EU market. Removing barrier-free 
access to a market of 500 million consumers risks imposing a serious impediment to 
the UK and Wales attracting new FDI and indeed retaining current branch plants – 
again this can only be a negative for the economic prospects of the UK and Wales.  

Additionally there are some very significant regional ‘pockets’ of manufacturing 
activity in Wales where individual firms support significant proportions of the local 
community through extensive supply chain employment and large multiplier effects. 
This includes for example Airbus in Flintshire and Ford in Bridgend. We can not have 
a situation where these potential Free Trade Agreements put these communities at 
risk.  

In more general terms, the Welsh Government remains deeply concerned about the 
UK Government’s lack of collaborative inter-governmental working in developing 
trade policy – and the general lack of regard for the role of the devolved institutions 
as an integral part of the governance of the United Kingdom.  

We were not asked for our views on what the priorities for future trading relationships 
should be prior to these consultations being launched, despite the clear potential 
impacts on the Welsh economy. We have also not been involved in any of the 
informal discussions which are taking place with third countries – the so called 
‘working groups’. The information accompanying the consultations makes little 
reference to devolved areas of competence: indeed, Wales, Scotland and Northern 
Ireland are included as “regions” along with English counties.  

There is an urgent need for the UK’s trade policy to be developed on the basis of a 
proper understanding of the devolved institutions’ role in UK governance. Policy 
areas such as economic development, health, environment, food safety, animal 
health and welfare, agriculture and fisheries have all been devolved to each of 
Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland following democratic votes by the relevant 
electorates. Trade policy should not be a “back door” to re-centralising control in 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



Westminster. For this reason we have asked for a new inter-governmental ministerial 
forum to be established, to agree joint approaches to UK trade policy. It is surely far 
better for the UK Government to work with the devolved administrations  to identify 
risks and concerns at an early stage, and be able to go into trade negotiations with 
an agreed mandate, rather than attempt to operate in a vacuum and come up with 
policy that may not work for the whole of the UK. 

Our fear is that a failure to construct a robust and comprehensive future trade 
discussion mechanism between governments of the UK will lead to businesses and, 
ultimately, communities in  Wales and other parts of the UK feeling shut out from 
decisions over future trading agreements, potentially risking new and damaging 
resentments building up at a UK level.  This is something I am sure neither of us 
would want to see. 

Finally, the Welsh Government remains adamant that there should not be a “race to 
the bottom” in regulatory standards post-Brexit. The current EU environmental, 
social, food and animal health and welfare policy frameworks have provided 
important employment, social and environmental rights and protections for our 
citizens. New trade deals should not open the way for reducing standards and putting 
people, animals or the environment at risk.  They should also not be used to flood the 
UK with cheap and high carbon products produced to different standards not based 
on our regulatory values, for both ethical reasons and the practical reason it could put 
Welsh producers at an unfair disadvantage. The Welsh Government is committed to 
policy making which is evidence based and safeguards the interests of future 
generations. Trade policy should be used to support, not undermine this approach.  

There follows our assessment on a sector basis of the threats and opportunities for 
Wales from the proposed trade deals under consideration.   

 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Carwyn Jones AC/AM 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 80



SECTOR SUMMARY 

 

AGRICULTURE, FORESTRY AND FISHERIES 

Agriculture, fisheries, environment and forestry are devolved competences for the 
Welsh Government and the other devolved governments in the UK, meaning we have 
powers to make primary legislation in these areas. Wales is relatively specialised in 
agri-food with a higher proportion of the population employed in agriculture, forestry or 
fisheries than the rest of the UK. For some regions within Wales up to 16% of the 
population are employed in these sectors.  In these regions alternative employment 
opportunities are not readily available and any decline in employment in these sectors 
would have a severe impact. Furthermore, rural communities are a vital part of the 
culture and landscape of Wales with many other industries such as tourism and food 
processing reliant upon them – through the multiplier effect the agriculture, forestry and 
fisheries sectors support other rural businesses and this should not be underestimated.  
Any negative impact on agricultural industries in the UK would therefore have a 
disproportionate impact on Wales. Clearly any new trade relationship which covers 
agriculture, fisheries, environment or forestry areas will need to be developed in 
conjunction with the devolved governments.  

There are considerable concerns around our future trade agreement with the EU from 
the agri-food industry. The EU represents by far the largest export market for our food 
producers with nearly 80% of Welsh food exports going to the EU.  All new trade deals 
should be seen as secondary to needing to secure our future trade relationship with 
the EU first. The regulatory environment we sign up to with the EU will have important 
implications for any new trade deal. These issues cannot be treated in isolation. For 
meat products, there is no viable substitute to the EU market in the mid or long term. 
Maintaining regulatory alignment with the EU on goods to allow as frictionless trade as 
possible is therefore crucial. 

It is important that in any future trade relationship with other countries the integrity of 
the Welsh brand for food and drink must be maintained and promoted. There is a 
strong desire amongst Welsh producers to access markets overseas however the 
financial and regulatory barriers often mean that it is not commercially viable for them 
to do so. On non-tariff barriers, free trade agreements must provide exporters with 
consistency and predictability around rules and regulations, and clear and transparent 
customs procedures. Signing free trade agreements is only one part of the picture in 
encouraging trade. There are lots of ways of encouraging links between countries 
without a free trade agreement and once an agreement is in place there needs to be 
awareness raising and support for exporters to take advantage of it.  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 81



Wales, in line with the other UK countries, is a country with high animal welfare and 
health standards, with a focus on sustainability.  We should promote the recognition of 
our high animal health (including combatting antimicrobial resistance) and welfare 
standards, traceability systems, protected names of origin and quality of product. Our 
livestock industry adheres largely to assurance schemes and is highly regulated, much 
more than our potential trade partners across the oceans.  The markets most important 
to us are those looking for a high quality fresh product and are located in the EU. There 
are important links between trade in agrifood products and the risks for human and 
animal health. We should reject any negotiations taking us down the path of increased 
disease risks, accepting lower environmental and animal welfare standards.  

We also rely on trade deals signed by the EU with third countries; for example South 
Korea is a large market for shellfish from Wales. The seafood sector in Wales, although 
relatively small, is nonetheless an important industry in many communities in rural 
Wales, and is wholly dependent on exports and with little value added post catch. 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 82



BUSINESS SECTORS  

The Welsh economy has undergone significant structural change over time.  Up until 
the later decades of the 20th century, the Welsh economy was comprised of agriculture 
and heavy industry – coal mining, oil refining and traditional manufacturing were the 
most important industries in the region. As with most European regions, the heavy 
industry component has declined and services have increased.  Nevertheless, 
manufacturing in 2016 still made up 10% of total employment (down from 15% in 
2001)3 and contributed to around 18% of Welsh Gross Value Added (compared to 10% 
for the UK)4 .In recent years, sector focus has shifted towards higher-tech sectors such 
as aerospace, automotive and electronic. Overall, the Welsh economy is still relatively 
more reliant on manufacturing than the UK as a whole, as illustrated in Table 1.  Here 
it is shown that Wales is around three times more reliant on employment within 
manufacturing related activities than the UK as a whole.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                       
3 Stats Wales - https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/work-place-
employment-industry/?lang=en  
4 Stats Wales- https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-
Labour-Market/Regional-Accounts/Gross-Value-Added-GDP/gvainwales-by-
industry  

Tudalen y pecyn 83



 

Table 1: Specialisation by sector in Wales (2015)5 

 

The importance of manufacturing to the Welsh economy is also reflected in Figure 2 
which shows that Welsh exports are dominated by Machinery & Transport equipment 
(52%), followed by Manufactured goods classified chiefly by material (13%).  The 
importance of EU markets for the Welsh manufacturing sector is also highlighted with 
65% and 69% respectively of the above sub-sectors going to the EU.  Of the top 5 
Welsh export sectors, only Mineral fuels, lubricants & related materials have a higher 
                       
5 The location quotient shows the relative intensity of employment in Wales compared to the UK as a whole.  A 
ratio of one indicates that Wales has the same share of employment in the sector as the UK as a whole.  A 
figure of, for example two, indicates that Wales has twice as high a share of employment in the sector as the 
UK, while a figure of 0.5 indicates a Welsh share of employment that is half that for the UK as a whole. Figures 
for mining etc have been excluded as an outlier and due to the small scale of the industry.   

Tudalen y pecyn 84



proportion going to non-EU countries than EU countries.  Exports within this sub-
sector are driven by Petroleum and petroleum products, for which the scope for value 
added activity in Wales tends to be limited.      

Figure 2: Top 5 Welsh Export Sectors 

Source: Welsh Government analysis of HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 

Whilst data on the exports of services from Wales is limited, the ONS have produced 
experimental statistics for which the latest available data broken down by destination 
is 2015.   Figure 3 reflects the scale of Welsh exports of services (for the sectors where 
data is available), compared with goods (which are dominated by manufacturing), 
again highlighting that manufacturing is relatively more important for Wales than the 
UK.   

Figure 3: Welsh Goods and Services exports, 2015  £m6 

 

                       
6 2015 data has been used as this is the latest data available where trade in services is broken down by 
destination.  This data is only available for some sectors, therefore it is not possible to provide the total value of 
services exports to each country.   

5,647

1,444
1,047

731 764

2,981

653 867 1,042
554

0

2000

4000

6000

Machinery &
transport

equipment

Manufactured
goods classified

chiefly by material

Chemicals &
related products,

nes

Mineral fuels,
lubricants & related

materials

Miscellaneous
manufactured

articles

Top 5 Welsh Export Sectors (£m)
Year to Q2, 2018

EU Non-EU

Tudalen y pecyn 85



Overall, Wales has some significant regional variations in economic structure and 
performance, with certain regions highly reliant on one firm or industry. This makes 
whole communities vulnerable to significant changes in the fortunes of sectors.  Data 
on exports is not available below the all-Wales level, but the extent of the 
dependency of an area on the manufacturing industry is likely to provide a broad 
indication of vulnerability.  Figure 4 reflects the share of the workforce in each local 
authority area in Wales that works in the production sector (which comprises mainly 
of the manufacturing industry). 
Figure 4- Workforce in the production sector 2016 (%) 

 

 

We would urge the UK Government to consider the regional impacts of future FTAs. 
There are some very significant regional ‘pockets’ of manufacturing activity in Wales 
where individual firms support significant proportions of the local community through 
relatively large multiplier effects. This includes for example Airbus in Flintshire and 
Ford in Bridgend for instance. We can not have a situation where Free Trade 
Agreements with these proposed countries risks putting these communities at risk.  

To emphasise this point, consider aerospace as an example – it employs 10,000 
people in Wales and GVA (classified as “other transport equipment”) has increased 
from £559m in 2012 to £1.1bn in 2016. The rapid growth in sector GVA is also reflected 
in the value of exports from the sector in Wales which have grown from £2.3bn in 2013 
to £4.4bn in 2017 (89% increase). Imports in 2017 were £692.1m. The significance of 

Tudalen y pecyn 86



putting this sector at risk can not be overestimated – the impact on communities, the 
people that live and work there could be devastating if the UK gets these FTAs wrong. 
This is just one of many examples in Wales and we would like the UK Government to 
ensure that it sets up clear lines of dialogue with us to ensure that this and other key 
sectors are considered.  

Related to our manufacturing sector is the manufacturing services sector which 
employed around 6,000 people in Wales in 2016 – this includes services linked to the 
repair and maintenance of aircraft and spacecraft (the largest subsector, employing 
around 3,000 people), the repair of fabricated metal products and machinery and 
equipment. This activity is highly specialised in Wales compared to the UK as a whole.  
GVA in this sector has increased steadily since 2012, and was an estimated £1.3bn in 
2016. Exports of Manufacturing Services from Wales were nearly £1.2bn in 2016, and 
this was the second-largest single function category listed by the ONS in its estimates 
of services exports. Manufacturing services exports were around 21% of total services 
exports from Wales in 2016. Manufacturing services are intrinsically connected to the 
manufacturing sector in Wales.  

We would be concerned that any of the FTAs did not take in to account the embedded 
nature of services and manufacturing in modern manufactured products. This is a key 
issue for Wales. Failing to understand the linkages here could have devastating 
consequences for exports in Wales. 

As with the agri-food industry there are considerable concerns around our future trade 
agreement with the EU from our key sectors in Wales. The EU is our largest export 
market, dominated by our manufacturing sector, as is seen in chart 2.  As we have 
repeated through-out this response, all new trade deals should be seen as 
complementary too, not as a substitute for our future trade relationship with the EU.  

Our manufacturing sector relies heavily on ‘just in time’ supply chains with the EU, a 
stable European regulatory environment and the free flow of goods and embedded and 
stand alone services. We have yet to see how the circle can be squared in relation to 
regulatory alignment and recognition of standards with the EU and an FTA with the 
US. These two goliaths in terms of trade and negotiations have quite different views 
on these. Our stakeholders have been clear that the priority should be in securing the 
relationship with the EU before any deal with the US is discussed.   

Steel is an important sector in Wales and is a critical employer to certain regions within 
Wales. It is challenging to assess what impact potential new trade deals might have 
and much will depend on how US Section 232 is considered in any deal and whether 
the UK adopts the current EU safeguards against these US tariffs. We are expecting 
the zero import tariffs on many steel products to continue post Brexit - as a result of a 
zero-for-zero deal between the major developed countries agreed during the Uruguay 
Round – this includes the USA, Canada, Japan and South Korea (US Section 232 
aside.  

Tudalen y pecyn 87



However, there is of course the potential for indirect impacts through steel consuming 
products such as the automotive sector. This can be highlighted by the recent example 
of a downturn in the Chinese car market and the resultant impact on the UK automotive 
manufacturing sector and resultant supply chains. We would urge the UK Government 
to work more closely with Welsh Government to understand more clearly many of the 
potential indirect impacts that might be felt from such trade deals, particularly in relation 
to the supply chains within the UK internal market.  

Although the Welsh economy is more reliant on manufacturing than the rest of the UK, 
the importance of services should not be underestimated and this is likely to be the 
area where there is most potential assuming that the movement of people is not 
curtailed in any FTA.  

Exports from Wales of Insurance and pension services were the highest services 
exporting sector in 2016, estimated to be worth around £1.4bn and accounting for 26% 
of total. Further to this, Welsh exports of Financial services were  estimated to be over 
£1bn in 2016. This represents around 18% of services exports from Wales and is the 
third highest services exporting sector.  The future trade relationship with the EU is an 
important risk factor for this sector. 

The financial, insurance and pensions services sector is an important part of the UK 
economy and a growth sector in Wales. New trade deals are however unlikely to be of 
significant impact on these sectors in Wales.  Many companies in this sector already 
trade globally and have established subsidiaries overseas to facilitate their activities, 
the US for example, but also a growing number are now setting up subsidiaries in the 
EU.   For these sectors the provisions on free movement of people and 
equivalence/recognition of professional qualifications in any future FTAs are of prime 
importance.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 88



 

PUBLIC HEALTH 

Health-related Regulation 

Trade agreements could potentially impact against health-related regulation, such as 
against asbestos, or on tobacco or food labelling. These may restrict the extent to 
which the UK and devolved governments can regulate for health. Agreements may 
allow existing regulatory measures as a baseline, but make more market restrictive or 
tighter regulations harder to impose in future. Any deals must ensure both that existing 
health-related regulations are protected, and that there is the necessary policy space 
to regulate further if necessary. 

Restrictions on the Marketing of products 

Public health measures frequently place restrictions on the marketing of products with 
safety or health concerns. Health promotion measures seek to educate consumers to 
reduce their consumption of unhealthy products. The European Union (EU) has 
previously stressed the importance of the precautionary principle, which would allow 
further measures irrespective of trade implications, if there are reasonable grounds for 
concern that potential hazards may affect the environment or human, animal or plant 
health. 

An agreement could also open up the risk of corporate challenges and compensation 
claims from legitimate public health regulation, health protection and health promotion 
policy measures. For example, expropriation claims have already been used by the 
tobacco industry to challenge Australia plain packaging law. 

Food Safety 

The UK’s domestic production of food has been steadily declining since the early 
1980s; self-sufficiency is now, by value, only about 60%. The UK supplied less than 
half (49%) of its unprocessed food in 2016. A no deal withdrawal could adversely affect 
public health, consumer protection, animal welfare and environmental sustainability, 
as other countries begin to produce food for the UK to replace imports from the EU.  

The EU and UK have world leading food safety and animal by-product standards in 
place, which helps to protect consumers. Any changes could potentially impact upon 
trade with the EU, where any erosion of current standards could lead to the UK not 
being able to trade with the EU. There are also potential risks to public health and 
safety, where for example: 

 The US reports higher rates of illness from foodborne illness than in the UK. 
Annually, 14.7% (48m) of the US population suffer from an illness, versus 1.5% 
(1m) in the UK.  
  

 The US reports slightly higher rates of deaths from foodborne illness than in the 
UK. The annual death rate in the US is 3000 per annum, versus 500 in the UK. 
The US population is about 5 times that of the UK. 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



Chlorinated chicken - Some anti-microbial washes for poultry have been assessed 
by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), which concluded that they would not 
present a safety concern. However, none of these substances have been approved for 
use in the EU. Only potable water can be used to remove surface contamination from 
poultry carcasses in EU countries. The current rules will most probably remain in place 
in the short term after the UK leaves the EU. US chicken has been banned in the EU 
since 1997 because of this chlorine washing process. EU rules dictate that food 
manufacturers should focus on overall hygiene to eliminate microorganisms, instead 
of using a single chemical decontamination step. The FSA would apply a rigorous risk 
assessment to any potential change in the rules, with the absolute priority being the 
protection of public health. 

Genetically Modified Organisms (GMO) - GM plants and foods cannot be marketed 
in the EU without official authorisation. This involves a rigorous pre-market safety 
assessment to ensure that the product does not present a risk to human health or the 
environment. The FSA’s general view is that regulation in this area should be science-
based and proportionate. 

Pesticides - pesticides are sprayed more frequently and more widely in US agriculture 
than in the UK and EU. The maximum residue levels of pesticides in the US are often 
substantially higher than those permitted in the EU.  

Ractopamine - a drug called ractopamine which is given to pigs is currently banned 
under EU law, which increases their muscle tissue and reduces fat. In 2009, the 
European Food Safety Authority concluded there was ‘not enough data to show that it 
is safe for human consumption at any level’. In the US, however, the Food and Drug 
Administration deems the “benefits” of using ractopamine to outweigh the risks.  

Chicken Litter - The incorporation of “chicken litter” (poultry bedding material mixed 
with chicken faeces) into animal feed, including feed intended for poultry, is currently 
banned in the EU. In the US, the use of poultry litter in cattle feed is unrestricted. The 
UK’s experience with BSE (mad cow disease) showed what can occur when animal 
wastes are incorporated into animal feeds.  

Food additives - US food contains a wider range of additives than are permitted in the 
EU, and at higher levels of usage. For example, potassium bromate and 
azodicarbonamide are authorised for use in US bread-making as ‘dough improvers’, 
but deemed unacceptable in the EU. 

Food Labelling 

Some countries (such as the USA) have reduced food labelling standards to provide 
consumers with far less information than is the case in the EU. Should the UK be 
obliged to accept food that complies with other legislation and regulations this could 
risk a reduction in UK food safety standards in exchange for a FTA. Future deals could 
also undermine the UK’s voluntary Front of Pack nutrition labelling scheme, which 
supports consumers in making healthier food choices. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



Nutrition/ obesity 

FTA may have a negative impact on public health policies seeking to reduce levels of 
population obesity, or to improve nutritional status, such as through mandatory 
fortification.  

There is the potential for the entry of global food company products which are 
nutritionally poor, calorie dense, and high in saturated fat, salt, and sugar. The low cost 
and widespread availability of such products, together with targeted advertising and 
shifting cultural attitudes, could influence food consumption patterns at a population 
level. Excessive caloric intake has been related to high-fat foods, increased portion 
sizes, and diets high in both simple sugars such as sucrose and in high-fructose corn 
syrup (HFCS) as a source of fructose. There is greater use of HFCS in products within 
the US, for example, which may pose a risk if the UK market relaxes controls on such 
products. Further expansion, without regulation, risks undermining efforts to control 
non-communicable diseases, including obesity. 

The UK (in compliance with existing EU legislation) currently bans the advertising of 
first infant formula to the general public, in order to promote the positive benefits of 
breastfeeding. Any trade deal would need to protect this position.  

Tobacco/ Alcohol  

Trade agreements may influence health protection and prevention policies such as the 
regulation of tobacco products and nicotine inhaling products.  The UK has some of 
the strongest tobacco control legislation in the world and so any FTA should not 
undermine this.  As mentioned above, expropriation claims have already been used by 
the tobacco industry to challenge Australian plain packaging law.  In the UK, tobacco 
product packaging is also standardised and trade deals may seek to circumvent these 
rules as a perceived barrier to trade.  This would impact on the effectiveness of the 
policy which seeks to encourage existing smokers to quit and prevent non-smokers, 
particularly children and young people, from starting through enlarged health warnings 
and the elimination of with promotional features.  There could also be implications for 
the track and trace system which comes into force in the UK on 20th May 2019. This 
new system is one of the tools preventing counterfeit goods entering the UK.  An FTA 
with another country that has standardised packaging of tobacco products may still be 
problematic if the packaging requirements differ to UK requirements. 

Electronic cigarettes and other nicotine inhaling devices are regulated to ensure their 
safety for the user and to be child- and tamper-proof to protect against health risks due 
to the toxic nature of nicotine-containing liquid.  Health warnings are also required on 
products sold in the UK to protect against use by unintended persons and there are 
rules on their labelling / packaging to provide information on their content and use, and 
so as not to mislead the consumer.  Any trade deal would need to protect this to ensure 
consistency of quality, safety and messaging on these products. 

Similar to tobacco, the main concern for alcohol would be to ensure any trade 
agreements do not undermine existing alcohol legislation. One of the main concerns 
would be in regards to alcohol labelling, and insuring any free trade agreement 
complied with existing labelling regulations. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 91



Environment  

Regional Trade Agreements (RTAs) could alter the scope and scale of production 
through trade, Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) and subsequent competition with 
domestic firms7. Such an increase in the nature of production “may have additional 
consequences for the environment via pollution and climate change”. In the case of 
Wales and the UK, any such consequences arising from an FTA would continue to be 
regulated by domestic legislation which includes EU legislation which is currently 
incorporated into the law of England and Wales. 

Most UK environmental legislation and policy has been driven by the EU and subject 
to EU enforcement mechanisms. EU membership has provided regulatory safeguards 
that promote public health, thereby helping tackle long term demands on the NHS. In 
the public health domain, EU rules on matters such as transport safety, food and 
product safety, air and water quality, waste, workplace health and safety and tobacco 
regulation – have had tangible effects on population health. The use of free trade 
agreements could potentially impact against this health-related regulation.  In any free 
trade agreement, we will have to make sure that standards remain attentive to health.    

 

PROCUREMENT 

This response is predicated on the basis that the proposed free trade agreements 
(FTA’s) would have procurement chapters.  As the Welsh Government has been 
provided with no detail in relation to what has been proposed for inclusion in these 
chapters it is difficult to respond in a meaningful way to the consultation.  

Procurement agreements in the proposed FTA’s would have to include agreed 
processes in relation amongst other things thresholds, coverage,  fair and transparent 
award procedures , non-discrimination and dispute resolution procedures.  This is not 
an exhaustive list.  

Coverage will be a particularly important aspect; that is, what procurement markets will 
be open to Welsh businesses, and vice versa?  We have no detail as to what UK 
Government proposes in relation to coverage and so any other threats and 
opportunities that might arise can only be assessed once those details have been 
provided. 

 

  

                       
7 “The Health impact of trade and investment agreements: a quantitative systematic review and network co-
citation analysis” published in Global Health, March 2017.  

Tudalen y pecyn 92



Country Summary 

USA 

The USA is the 2nd largest exporter of goods and services in the world and the number 
one largest importer. The size of this market would on the face of it suggest  there are 
significant opportunities for Welsh firms. However, barriers exist – be that non-tariff 
barriers (such as the array of different rules and regulations by states) or even access 
to the market itself (such as UK lamb and beef). 

The Welsh Government fully supports the merits of international trade and we fully 
accept that there are significant trading opportunities outside of Europe and we are 
committed to working with businesses to promote Wales around the world. But we do 
not believe this should be at the expense of our trading relationship with our closest 
integrated neighbours. We are keen to explore ways of improving access to the USA 
market and reducing barriers to trade, however, we should be realistic about the 
potential benefits especially given the renewed protectionism we have seen from the 
current administration. For some businesses it has made more commercial sense to 
establish within the USA and sell from there rather than try to export from Wales. We 
would argue that at this stage we do not need a Free Trade Agreement (FTA) with the 
US to reduce the barriers to trade for Welsh companies in the US.   

The USA’s current approach to climate change is a concern for the Welsh Government.  
We have introduced the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 which 
requires Welsh Ministers to take account of environmental sustainability in all policy 
matters. We are concerned that any new trade relationship with the USA does not 
inadvertently undermine this policy objective by enabling USA producers to sell 
products into the UK market which have not been subject to the same requirements 
regarding carbon emissions.  

The USA has previously attempted to insert Investor-State-Dispute-Settlement (ISDS) 
mechanisms into trade deals. This was particularly controversial during the 
negotiations on the Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership (TTIP) between 
the EU and USA when there was significant public outcry at the proposed ISDS clauses 
which would oblige nation states to compensate foreign investors who lost out due to 
changes in public policies. The concern was that the clauses would in effect force 
future governments to maintain policies which were advantageous to foreign investors 
or pay large compensation sums. This was seen as undemocratic as it could bind the 
hands of future governments to change policy position. It is unclear whether the USA 
would want to take a similar approach to ISDS again. The recent US-Mexico-Canada 
Agreement has taken a softer approach so may show some signs of a change in 
approach. The Welsh Government would be very concerned about the inclusion of any 
ISDS clauses which could limited the ability of the Government to make, or change, 
public policies which are within our devolved competence such as health, education, 
economic development, agriculture, fisheries and environment.  

Tudalen y pecyn 93



 

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND FISHERIES 

The USA has a strong agri-food sector and can produce much of its own food 
domestically rather than import. There is a strong farming lobby in the USA which is 
keen to protect domestic producers and reduce competition from international 
suppliers. Whilst the USA is potentially an important market there have been difficulties 
in achieving market access for Welsh food products and we would prefer that the UK 
Government prioritised securing access to the US market for UK beef and lamb 
products before thinking of an FTA with the US .  

Welsh producers have been active in marketing products into the USA with relatively 
marginal success so far. The total food and drink exports to the USA from Wales in 
2017 were £16.5 million8, which is approximately 3% of total Welsh food & drink 
exports. Regulatory barriers to accessing the USA market have been an issue for 
Welsh exporters. Complying with these standards as well as UK standards creates 
complexity for producers, for example products have to be tested for different strains 
for e-coli and there are different requirements for pasteurisation.  

Wales has a specialisation in producing lamb products. Historically sheep meat has 
been a relatively small market in the USA compared to beef and chicken products; 
however there are opportunities.  There could also be opportunities for high-quality 
Welsh Beef but global beef exports are dominated by producers such as Australia and 
Brazil and the US is already a highly competitive market. Access agreements in 
themselves may not by themselves mean that exports necessarily follow; the Republic 
of Ireland agreed a beef exports deal with the USA a few years ago but very little beef 
has been exported. 
 
In terms of fisheries, export is the only viable sales channel for Welsh shellfish due to 
there being no significant demand in the UK, however, we do not see the USA as a 
viable market due to the distances involved. There have been successes in accessing 
the organic market for certain specialist products and it is important that equivalence 
agreements on organic standards are maintained in future. For forestry, the USA is not 
a significant market for Welsh products. In terms of timber imports from the USA we 
would want to see existing protections on plant health maintained as well as protections 
for state-owned forestry.  

The US market for alcohol and beverages is highly regulated; the regulatory barriers 
for alcohol in particular can be prohibitive. The US quota and licences system is 
extremely limiting9.  Businesses in the UK also have to export via a quota-holding 

                       
8 Welsh Government analysis of HMRC regional trade statistics  
9  (A Liquor Code imposes a quota, or limit, on the number of licenses that may be granted allowing the retail 
sale of liquor, wine and malt and brewed beverages. In Pennsylvania, for example, there may be only one 
license for every 3,000 inhabitants in any county.)  

Tudalen y pecyn 94



importer or intermediary, and cannot export directly. To add to the complexity, there 
are different regulations in different states. 

We have a number of concerns about the potential impact of a trade deal with the USA 
on Welsh food producers. The USA has historically opposed Geographical Indicators 
which are very important protections for Welsh producers e.g. Welsh Lamb. It is 
important that any trade relationship with the USA does not undermine existing 
Geographical Indicators.  

The regulatory standards for food production in the USA are very different in the UK. 
Genetically modified food is much more widespread in the USA agricultural industry 
than in the UK. The use of growth hormone in the production of meat is allowed and 
the use of antibiotics is much higher. Animal welfare legislation and regulations in the 
UK mean that our livestock enterprises have to comply with detailed farming, transport 
and slaughter welfare requirements and associated inspections and paperwork. As 
well as the possible impacts on health, the difference in standards alongside the scale 
of their operations means that USA producers are able to produce low cost food 
compared with UK producers.  

This means there is not a level playing field between UK and USA producers. A trade 
deal with the USA would risk the UK market being flooded with low cost food produced 
to different standards which would stand poor comparison with our own domestic 
regulatory requirements. We would want to see the same regulatory framework 
imposed on importers to the UK as are currently placed on domestic producers. The 
impacts on public health are covered later in this submission.  

The Wales Animal Health and Welfare Framework (AH&W Framework) sets high 
standards and firm commitments to raise standards of animal health and welfare in 
Wales. The way that animals are bred, reared and cared for throughout their life, the 
health and welfare and policies introduced to manage disease risks can have major 
implications for the environment and society as a whole. This is achieved, for example, 
through Animal Health Planning with direct veterinary involvement, underpinned by the 
principle that “prevention is better than cure” which has synergistic and cumulative 
benefits across a wide range of areas, lowering the risks to animals, public, farm 
businesses and the environment. 

Linked with the AH&W Framework is the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act, mentioned above. It requires public bodies in Wales to think about the long-term 
impact of their decisions, to work better with people, communities and each other, and 
to seek to prevent persistent problems such as poverty, health inequalities and climate 
change. We want to keep farmers on the land and therefore anything that affects the 

                       
    
 

Tudalen y pecyn 95



implementation of our goals for animal health and welfare would be detrimental in many 
ways to this complex ecosystem. 

 

BUSINESS SECTORS  

We know that the USA is a seasoned and experienced negotiator and has expectations 
in any new free trade agreement to pursue tariff reductions as well as reducing non-
tariff barriers. Under the current Administration it is committed to ‘America First’ and 
negotiations that achieve substantive results for its citizens and businesses.  

As we detail in Doc 1 the Welsh economy has manufacturing embedded at the centre 
of it. This is evident in our trade data, with Wales exporting more goods than services. 
Tariffs on industrial goods, globally, are already very low compared to the agricultural 
sector, and hence the reduction of tariffs in the industrial sector with the US is unlikely 
to offer large gains to Welsh manufacturers in terms of trade. The issues lie largely 
with regards to market access and technical barriers to trade in particular. Exporting to 
the US is not as simple as exporting to the EU – its 50 states are not bound together 
in the way EU nation states are to various rules and regulations. It is not clear to us 
how an FTA would address the issues with states and access to them all. We would 
be keen to understand your thinking on this.  

There are a number of generic technical barriers to trade issues that our businesses 
face when exporting to the US, including but not limited to different regulations, 
standards and testing procedures as well as different environmental standards. 
Whereas in principle we accept that an FTA with the USA could help with these issues 
we are very clear that this can not come at the sacrifice of the trading relationship with 
the EU. There would be issues with trying to adhere to both the EU’s regulatory 
framework and that of the USA’s where there are conflicts between the two. Welsh 
manufacturers already compete with the US on a global scale and there is a substantial 
flow of industrial goods between the US and Wales.  Trade gravity helps explain why 
Wales trades more with Europe than the rest of the world. It is very unlikely that, in the 
short term, an FTA with the US could compensate for the loss of full and unfettered 
access to the Single Market. Any such suggestion would need to be supported by 
convincing evidence, evidence we have yet to see.   

The top five goods imports of the US are very similar to Wales’ top exports, highlighting 
the strong industrial heritage of both nations. This is highlighted in Figure 1. 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 96



Figure 1: Potential similarities between key US import sectors and Welsh export 
sectors (using latest available data) 

US 
Impor
t Rank 

Commodit
y 

Import 
Value 
($Bn) 

Percenta
ge of 
total US 
imports 

Wels
h 
Expo
rt 
Rank 

Commodity  Expo
rt 
Valu
e 
(£m) 

Percenta
ge of 
Total 
Welsh 
Exports 

1 Electrical 
machinery, 
equipment 

356.8 14.8% 2 Power 
generating 
machinery & 
equipment 

1.9 11.2% 

2 Machinery 
including 
computers 

349.1 14.5% 2 Power 
generating 
machinery & 
equipment 

1.9 11.2% 

3 Vehicles 294.6 12.2% 7 Road 
vehicles 
(including 
air cushion 
vehicles) 

0.6 3.5% 

4 Mineral 
fuels 
including 
oil 

204.2 8.5% 3 Petroleum, 
petroleum 
products & 
related 
materials 

1.7 10.3% 

5 Pharmace
uticals 

96.4 4.0% 6 Medicinal & 
pharmaceuti
cal products 

0.7 4.0% 

 

 As we have highlighted in the section above, we can not accept an FTA that means 
that Welsh firms are opened up to competition from US firms, yet they are not 
competing on a level playing field – for example different decarbonisation regulations 
and targets mean stricter rules for Welsh manufacturers than US ones, potentially 
putting US firms at a competitive advantage.  

 

PROCUREMENT 

The UK is seeking to join the GPA and the USA is already a member.   The Welsh 
Government would like clarification on the UK Government’s proposals in relation to 
the procurement chapter in any FTA with the USA; for example, would it be on GPA 
terms as they exist between our two countries?  If not, on what terms? The potential 
opportunities and threats of an FTA with the USA can only be assessed when further 
detail is provided. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 97



PUBLIC HEALTH 

We refer you to our sector response (Doc 1) and in particular our concerns around 
food safety and labelling. Doc 1 details the specific issues we have in relation to a 
potential FTA with the USA.  

 

AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND 

The distance between Wales and Australia and New Zealand poses clear challenges 
for exporters from Wales. The population of Australia is 25m and the population of New 
Zealand is just 4.7m making these small potential markets.  Australia and New Zealand 
are currently in trade negotiations with the EU which is a much larger potential market 
for them and as such they are likely to prioritise that trade deal over one with the UK. 
We see dangers in prioritising countries where there are relatively small gains to be 
had from a trade deal, but significant risks in relation to the agri-food sector. These 
countries are also seasoned negotiators and the UK should not be fooled in to thinking 
that their relatively small size makes these deals easy to negotiate. 

AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND FISHERIES 

Australia and New Zealand are both food exporting countries rather than importers. 
There are stringent biosecurity measures in place in both New Zealand and Australia 
which make it difficult to access these markets. We fail to see the potential benefit from 
a trade deal with both countries as anything other than fairly limited.  

Welsh agri-food businesses have clear concerns about trade deals with Australia and 
New Zealand. If such FTAs were to open up the UK market to more products from 
these countries without levelling the playing field in relation to animal health & welfare 
and environmental regulations (as a minimum) then there could be significant negative 
impacts on Welsh businesses and communities. It would be unfair to make Welsh 
producers compete with suppliers from these countries where we believe the 
regulations on producers are much less stringent. For example there are different 
requirements on the traceability of individual livestock or electronic identification and 
the regulations on disposal of animal by-products and fallen livestock are much less 
strict.  

There is currently a sheep meat Tariff Rate Quota in place with New Zealand which 
provides access to the UK market. The quota is not always filled however it is important 
to note that the market has shifted from importing carcasses which are low value/ high 
volume to importing cuts of sheep meat which are high value/ low volume. This means 
that the quota is not necessarily filled but there is still strong competition for the market 
in high value products. The seasonality of lamb allows for a complementary partner for 
the supply of red meat, however, due to a longer growing season in New Zealand, 
there is more scope to compete with the UK domestic markets, particularly when 
exports to China are reduced. Any trade agreement should take into consideration this 

Tudalen y pecyn 98



seasonal difference which is not currently present. This would present a good 
compromise position for both sides. We are also interested in working with New 
Zealand on marketing Welsh lamb into other markets such as US during their off-
season and vice versa. There are concerns from the Welsh dairy and beef industries 
regarding the potential implications of opening up the UK market for greater access 
from New Zealand and should be considered in any negotiation.  

There are also Tariff Rate Quotas in place in relation to Australia, these quotas are 
usually filled and there may be interest from Australia in further opening up the UK 
market to greater meat imports. This would be of great concern to Welsh farmers. 
Similarly for New Zealand, we would want to see an equitable compliance to our animal 
welfare, food and environmental standards to ensure there was a level playing field for 
Welsh producers.  

 

BUSINESS SECTORS AND TRANSPORT 

As we state above, the distance between Wales and Australia and New Zealand poses 
clear challenges for exporters from Wales, especially in bulky manufactured products.  

On the face of it there would appear to be opportunities for Welsh exporters with both 
Australia and New Zealand being importers of finished goods. Both countries have 
relatively small manufacturing sectors. However, the trade gravity argument holds true 
in this instance too as does the fact that some of its large Asian neighbours 
commanding strong comparative advantages in these areas. Tourism might be one 
area where there is some potential however this would not be dependent on a trade 
deal.  

 

PROCUREMENT 

Australia is applying to join the GPA and NZ is already a member.  The Welsh 
Government would like clarification on the UK Government’s proposals in relation to 
the procurement chapter in any FTA with Australia and New Zealand.  The potential 
opportunities and threats of an FTA with can only be assessed when further detail is 
provided. 

 

CPTPP 

Trade between Wales and the members of the CPTPP is relatively small, 
representing just 6.7% of Welsh goods exports. By far the biggest markets within 
CPTPP for Wales are Canada and Japan. It is worth noting that the EU already has 
trade agreements in place with both these countries, Mexico, Singapore and 

Tudalen y pecyn 99



Vietnam, and is also in the process of negotiating trade agreements with Australia 
and New Zealand which are also part of CPTPP. We understand there is an attempt 
to “roll over” existing trade agreements with the EU. Surely the priority here should be 
to try to retain the existing market access we already have through the existing 
agreements rather than take a scattergun approach to agreeing trade deals with 
these countries. The EU had much more heft in negotiating these agreements than 
the UK will ever have. Given limited capacity to negotiate new trade deals it would be 
better to focus on the “roll over” agreements first.  

Given that the CPTPP agreement has been signed there appears to be little scope for 
the UK to negotiate special terms from the deal. This is concerning given that we have 
had no involvement at all in negotiating the terms of the deal. The deal is very complex 
and it is difficult to assess the “real-world” impact. There should be much more 
thorough and transparent analysis provided from the UK Government on our offensive 
and defensive interests from the agreement.  The analysis should cover sector impacts 
including at a Wales level. The CPTPP is largely based on the TPP which was heavily 
influenced by the USA (before it withdrew). Therefore the regulatory approach taken 
within CPTPP is much more aligned with the USA’s than the EU’s. This could create 
tensions in future trade negotiations with the EU if some of the provisions we sign up 
to are incompatible with the EU.  

The CPTPP arguably removes the ‘precautionary principle’. This principle means that 
a country can take a ‘safety first’ or precautionary approach to protecting the public 
from harm even when there is scientific uncertainty or the scientific evidence is 
insufficient or inconclusive. The precautionary principle forms the basis of a number of 
EU bans or restrictions on products, in particular from the US (e.g. hormone-treated 
beef).  

The EU strongly supports the precautionary principle and the principle is reaffirmed in 
Sanitary and Phytosanitary (SPS) Chapters in EU FTAs such as CETA. The WTO SPS 
Agreement clearly sanctions the use of the precautionary principle although the term 
itself is not explicitly used (Article 5.7). The principle was originally developed in the 
context of environmental policy and is not restricted to SPS. It has been progressively 
consolidated in international environmental law and has since become a fully-fledged 
and general principle of international law. 

Animal health and welfare statuses vary significantly across this wide range of 
countries within CPTPP. Wales and the UK will be at the very top of this pyramid and 
some of these countries may pose unacceptable risks to us if, for SPS reasons, they 
are treated as a whole. Each of these countries would have to be assessed individually 
and these risks taken into account in the detail of SPS measures, with involvement of 
Welsh Government. 

Tudalen y pecyn 100



In terms of forestry Canada is a large exporter of timber. We need to understand what 
the potential implications might be for the forestry industry in Wales, specifically any 
restrictions on state owned forestry.  

The CPTPP includes Investor-State-Dispute–Settlement clauses. We would have real 
concerns about any Investor State Dispute Settlement procedures which would restrict 
the ability of devolved governments to make or change domestic regulations in future. 
These clauses can be used in trade agreements to require governments to pay 
compensation to foreign investors for a change in public policy which damages their 
business, for example, increasing environmental protections. It is very important that 
the Welsh Government is able to make and change public policy to protect the 
population without the threat of having to pay large amount of money to foreign 
investors. Again we would welcome more transparent analysis from the UK 
Government about what exactly they are intending to agree to.  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 101



Trade and Investment between Wales and US 

Trade and Investment between Wales and U.S  

Trade in Goods 

Source: HMRC regional Trade Statistics 

Please note that due to a methodology change, data for 2013 and beyond are not comparable with 
pre-2013 data.   

Trade in goods between the US and Wales has followed a broadly upwards trend since 
1996, reaching £4.9bn in the year to Q2 2018 when imports and exports totalled £2.7bn 
and £2.2bn respectively.   

 
 
Value of Goods Exports to US (£m), 2013-2017   
            

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change   
2013 £2671.1 -14.3% £38812.8 17.8%   
2014 £2370.2 -3.4% £37595.0 17.9%   
2015 £2086.9 9.7% £44000.1 3.9%   
2016 £2095.1 9.2% £45136.4 1.3%   
2017 £2288.6 - £45734.8 -   

        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC   

Tudalen y pecyn 102



Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh exports 
between 2013 and 2017 has increased by -14.3% 

 

 
Source: HMRC regional trade statistics 

Exports to the US accounted for 13.2% of total Welsh goods exports in the year to 
Q2 2018.  Over the last three years (2015-2017), ‘Petroleum, petroleum products & 
related materials’ and ‘Power generating machinery and equipment’ together 
dominated around 48% of Welsh exports to the US.    
  

Value of Goods Imports from US (£m), 2013-2017   
            

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change   
2013 £1711.7 42.9% £29652.5 25.2%   
2014 £2009.7 21.7% £29154.4 25.8%   
2015 £1996.3 22.6% £31079.7 19.4%   
2016 £1957.5 25.0% £35600.8 4.3%   
2017 £2446.7 - £37120.3 -   
        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC   
Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh Imports 
between 2013 and 2017 has increased by 42.9% 

£625m

£405m

£171m

£149m

£110m

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Petroleum, petroleum products &
related materials

Power generating machinery &
equipment

Medicinal & pharmaceutical
products

Ele machinery, app & appliances &
ele pt thereof n.e.s.

Professional, scientific &
controlling ins & app n.e.s.

Top 5 Welsh Export Sectors 2015-17 average (£m)

Welsh exports to USA

Tudalen y pecyn 103



Source: HMRC regional trade statistics 

Imports of goods from the US accounted for 15.2% of total Welsh good imports in the 
year to Q2 2018.  Over the last three years (2015-2017), ‘Power generating machinery 
and equipment’ and ‘Petroleum, petroleum products & related materials’  together 
dominated around 54% of Welsh imports from the US. 

Trade in Services 

According to ONS’ experimental statistics10, Welsh exports of services in 2015 totalled 
£5.0bn.  The available data provides partial information on the value of Welsh service 
exports to the US in some, but not all sectors.   

                       
10 2015 is the latest year for which trade in services data broken down by destination is available.   

£682m

£478m

£230m

£91m

£47m

0 200 400 600 800

Power generating machinery &
equipment

Petroleum, petroleum products &
related materials

Other transport equipment

Ele machinery, app & appliances & ele
pt thereof n.e.s.

Non-ferrous metals

Top 5 Welsh Import Sectors 2015-2017 average (£m)

Welsh imports from US

Tudalen y pecyn 104



Source: ONS Trade in Services experimental statistics (2015) 

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) 

There are 270 US owned companies active in Wales.  These are distributed across 
various Welsh sectors as follows:  

Number of US owned companies Sector 
110 Advanced Materials and Manufacturing  
3 Construction 
9 Creative Industries 
22 Energy & Environment 
35 Financial & Professional Services 
8 Food & Farming 
36 Information & Communication 

Technology 
28 Life Sciences 
4 Retail & Logistics 
1  Tourism 
14 Other 

  
270 Total 

Source: Welsh Government 

 

Trade and Investment between UK and U.S  

According to ONS statistics,  

 in 2016 the US was the UK's largest single bilateral trading partner, 
accounting for 15% of total UK trade. 

£492

£31
£63

£29

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Manufacturing Information and
communication

Real estate, professional,
scientific and technical

Industrial sections

Welsh Services exports to the US (£m) 2015

Tudalen y pecyn 105



 the US was also the UK's largest single export market, accounting for 18% of 
all UK exports. The US was the UK's second largest single source of imports. 

 total trade in goods and services (exports plus imports) between the UK and 
the US reached £181.2 billion in 2017, an 8.0% increase from 2016. 

 of all UK exports to the US in 2017, 45% was made up of goods and 55% in 
services. This compares to UK exports to the EU being 61% goods and 39% 
services. 

 in 2017, 53% of the UK's imports from the US were goods compared to 47% 
services. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 106



Trade and Investment between Wales and Australia and New Zealand 

Australia  

 

Source: HMRC regional Trade Statistics 

Please note that due to a methodology change, data for 2013 and beyond are not comparable with 
pre-2013 data.     

Since 2014, total Welsh trade with Australia has followed an upwards trend, driven by 
an increase in Welsh exports.  This follows a steep drop in trade from a peak of £478 
million in 2010.  This decrease was driven by a sharp decline in ‘Coal, coke & 
briquettes’ imports from Australia which was somewhat counteracted by a relatively 
modest increase in ‘Machinery and Transport equipment’ exports. 

More recently, in 2017, Welsh exports to Australia reached a high of £155 million, 
primarily drive by growth in ‘other transport equipment’ exports which was the largest 
contributor to total exports that year. Welsh imports from Australia stood at £78 million 
in 2017 and were dominated by imports of ‘Coal, coke and briquettes’ valued at £40.2 
million.  

 

 

 

   

Tudalen y pecyn 107



 

Value of goods Exports to Australia (£m), 2013-2017 

            

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change   
2013 £87.1 77.5% £3795.3 17.7%   
2014 £81.1 90.7% £3529.5 26.6%   
2015 £89.6 72.6% £3663.8 21.9%   
2016 £106.3 45.5% £3834.2 16.5%   
2017 £154.7 - £4467.0 -   
        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC   

Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh 
exports between 2013 and 2017 has increased by % 

 

 
Source: HMRC regional trade statistics 

 
    

Value of goods Imports from Australia (£m), 2013- 2017   
            

Year Wales % change UK % change   
2013 £63.6 23.4% £2059.8 9.6%   
2014 £48.2 62.9% £1636.8 37.9%   
2015 £61.6 27.4% £1888.6 19.5%   
2016 £47.9 63.9% £1825.2 23.7%   
2017 £78.5 - £2257.4 -   

        
Source: WG Analysis of Regional 

Trade statistics, HMRC   
Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh 
Imports between 2013 and 2017 has increased by 23.4% 

£20.2M

£15.5M

£12.5M

£10.2M

£7.5M

0 5 10 15 20 25

Medicinal & pharmaceutical products

Other transport equipment

Ele machinery, app & appliances & ele pt thereof
n.e.s.

Professional, scientific & controlling ins & app n.e.s.

Non-metallic mineral manufactures n.e.s.

Top 5 Export Sectors (2015-2017 average)

Welsh Exports to Australia

Tudalen y pecyn 108



Source: HMRC regional trade statistics 

Trade in Services 

Whilst the ONS have produced estimates of Welsh services exports to Australia, 
published as experimental statistics in 201511, the figures for Australia have been 
supressed due to disclosure rules.  To date, there are no available data sources on 
service imports for Wales.   

FDI 

There are 18 Australian owned companies active in Wales.  These are distributed 
across various Welsh sectors as follows:  

Number of Australian owned 
companies 

Sector 

3 Advanced Materials and Manufacturing  
2 Construction 
1 Creative Industries 
4 Energy & Environment 
4 Financial & Professional Services 
1 Information & Communication 

Technology 
1 Life Sciences 
2 Retail & Logistics 

  
18 Total 

Source: Welsh Government 

                       
11 2015 is the latest year for which trade in services broken down by destination is available.   

£31.7M

£8.2M

£4.7M

£3.0M

£2.7M

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Coal, coke & briquettes

Other transport equipment

Meat & meat preparations

Medicinal & pharmaceutical products

Power generating machinery & equipment

Top 5 Import Sectors (2015-2017 average)

Welsh imports from Australia

Tudalen y pecyn 109



Trade between the UK and Australia 

According to ONS statistics:  

 total trade in goods and services (exports plus imports) between the UK and 
Australia was £13.1 billion in 2016, a 0.8% decrease from 2015. 

 of all UK exports to Australia in 2016, 48% were goods and 52% in services. 
This compares to UK exports to the EU in which 61% were goods and 39% 
services. 

 of all UK imports from Australia in 2016, 46% were goods and 54% were 
services. 

Trade in Goods 

UK goods exports and imports to and from Australia (2007-2017) 

Source: Office for National Statistics, UK Trade (March 2018), values in current prices 

The UK exports a higher quantity of goods than it imports from Australia, leading to a 
trade surplus on goods. This trade surplus has been gradually increasing over the past 
ten years as growth in the UK's goods exports to Australia has exceeded growth in 
goods imports from Australia. 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 110



New Zealand 

Trade and FDI Between UK/Wales and New Zealand 
 

 
Source: HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 
 
Please note that due to a methodology change, data for 2013 and beyond are not comparable with pre-
2013 data.     
 

Trade between New Zealand and Wales has been volatile since 1996 mainly due to large 
spikes in Welsh exports.  Total trade was worth £31m in the year to Q2 2018 when imports 
and exports totalled £11.2m and £20.2m respectively.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 111



Top Import and Export Sectors 

 
Source: HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 
 

Looking at a three year average, ‘Beverages’, ‘Meat & meat preparations’ and Dairy 
products & birds’ eggs’ together dominate around 65% of Welsh imports from New 
Zealand. 

 
Source: HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 

Tudalen y pecyn 112



 
Looking at a three year average, ‘Road Vehicles’, ‘Non-metallic mineral manufactures’ and 
‘Furniture & parts thereof: bedding, mattresses etc’ together account for around 39% of 
Welsh exports to New Zealand. This suggests Welsh exports to New Zealand are not 
dominated by a specific sector. 
 
Top 10 goods exports from Wales to New Zealand for 2013-2017 £m, by SITC2  

           
SITC2 Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Road Vehicles (Including Air Cushion Vehicles) 1.4 1.8 1.9 2.8 2.5 
Non-Metallic Mineral Manufactures not Elsewhere 
Specified 0.1 0.2 1.5 2.2 2.4 
Furniture and Parts Thereof; Bedding and Mattresses 
etc. 0.4 1.9 2.1 2.1 1.8 
Manufactures Of Metal not Elsewhere Specified 0.6 0.7 1.0 0.9 1.4 
Machinery Specialized For Particular Industries 0.7 1.1 0.8 1.3 1.4 
Medicinal and Pharmaceutical Products 0.5 0.6 1.2 1.6 1.3 

Electric Machinery, Apparatus and Appliances and 
Electric Parts Thereof not Elsewhere Specified 0.7 1.0 0.7 0.8 1.2 
Miscellaneous Manufactured Articles not Elsewhere 
Specified 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.9 0.8 

General Industrial Machinery and Equipment and 
Machine Parts not Elsewhere Specified 1.3 0.8 0.4 0.6 0.8 
Plastics In Non-Primary Forms 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 
 Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC12          
            

 
 

 
Value of goods Exports to New Zealand (£m), 2013-2017   
            

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change   
2013 £11.3 58% £583.8 48%   
2014 £14.9 20% £626.9 38%   
2015 £14.1 27% £550.9 57%   
2016 £16.8 6% £700.2 24%   
2017 £17.9 - £865.6 -   
        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC   

Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh 
exports between 2013 and 2017 has increased by 58% 

 
    

                       
12 Note: The table above shows a time series for the SITC descriptions of the top 10 good exports in 2017. The 
top 10 good exports for previous years may not be the same as those in the table. 

Tudalen y pecyn 113



Value of goods Imports from New Zealand (£m), 2013-2017   
            

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change   
2013 £7.7 36% £845.8 7%   
2014 £9.8 6% £887.5 2%   
2015 £12.0 -13% £903.1 0%   
2016 £14.5 -28% £860.0 5%   
2017 £10.4 - £903.7 -   
        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC   
Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh 
exports between 2013 and 2017 has increased by 58% 

  

FDI 

There are three New Zealand companies active in Wales:  
 

 Opus International is an engineering consultancy with offices in Cardiff and 
Wrexham.  

 Pingar API is an ICT company which provides information analytics services 
from its base at Swansea University.  

 Techion UK Ltd, based in Aberystwyth, is an on-site diagnostic technology 
company within the agricultural industry. Techion opened its UK operation last 
year.  
 

 
In 2012, Wrexham headquartered Moneypenny took the decision to locate in New 
Zealand in order to offer a 24 hour service. Demand for this service had been 
growing steadily, particularly among some of the company’s larger clients. With New 
Zealand 12 hours ahead, Moneypenny staff normally based in Wrexham are still 
working day shifts but provide late-night cover when colleagues in Wales finish their 
shifts. 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 114



Trade and Investment between Wales and CPTPP 

Background Information 

The Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership 
(CPTPP) is a relatively deep and comprehensive plurilateral Free Trade Agreement 
between 11, economically diverse members, among them some of the region’s fastest-
growing economies. It is signed, but not yet in force and is currently comprised of 
members located in or around the wider Asia-Pacific region. The current members 
represent 13-14% of global GDP13, 6.7% of Welsh exports (7.9% imports) and are 
home to around 500m people. They are:  

 Australia 
 Brunei 
 Canada 
 Chile 
 Japan 
 Malaysia 
 Mexico 
 New Zealand 
 Peru 
 Singapore 
 Vietnam 

The agreement will seek to strengthen standards in such areas as environmental 
protection, anti-corruption, and workers’ rights, set policies for digital trade and SMEs, 
and completely eliminate tariffs on 95% of goods traded between its members. 

The agreement was formerly known as the Tran-Pacific Partnership but was renamed 
following the US’s withdrawal from negotiations last year.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                       
13 In 2017, CPTPP members constituted 13.3% of global GDP (Nominal GDP, IMF World Economic Outlook, April 
2018) 

Tudalen y pecyn 115



Trade and FDI between Wales and CPTPP Countries 

 

Source: HMRC regional Trade Statistics 

Please note that due to a methodology change, data for 2013 and beyond are not comparable with 
pre-2013 data.     

Trade between CPTPP countries and Wales has followed a broadly upwards trend 
since 1996, reaching £2.4bn in the year to Q2 2018, when imports and exports totalled 
£1.4bn and £1.1bn respectively.  During this time, Wales has consistently imported 
more goods from than it has exported to these countries, although exports have 
increased in recent years.    

 
Value of goods Exports to CPTPP (£m), 2013-2017   
            

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change   
2013 £1063m 0.8% £21297m 17.4%   
2014 £934m 13.0% £19618m 27.5%   
2015 £783m 34.6% £19580m 27.7%   
2016 £893m 18.1% £21870m 14.4%   
2017 £1055m - £25008m -   
        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC   
Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh exports 
between 2013 and 2017 has decreased by 0.8% 
 
Over the last five years, the value of both Welsh and UK exports to CPTPP 
countries decreased.  Welsh exports reached their lowest point in 2015 before 

Tudalen y pecyn 116



increasing by 34.6% to 2017, recovering to broadly the same level as that seen in 
2013.   
 

Value of goods Imports to CPTPP (£m), 2013-2017 
          

Year Wales 
% 

change UK % change 
2013 £1491 12.8% £24281m 17.6% 
2014 £1140 14.0% £21799m 31.0% 
2015 £978 32.8% £21727m 31.5% 
2016 £1057 23.0% £24831m 15.0% 
2017 £1300 - £28566m - 
        Source: WG Analysis of Regional Trade statistics, HMRC 
Note: percentage change shown is between that year and 2017. For example: the value of Welsh 
Imports between 2013 and 2017 has decreased by 12.8 % 

  
Welsh imports also followed a similar trend, decreasing to a five year low in 2015, 
before increasing by 32.8% to 2017, although falling short of the value previously seen 
in 2013.   

 

Which of the CPTPP countries are particularly important for Wales?  

Canada and Japan are both amongst Wales’ top 10 import and export partners and 
make the largest contributions of all the CPTPP countries to Welsh trade.  

Welsh and UK Exports to CPTPP Countries- Year to Q2 2018 

 

Source: HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 

  

Country
Value of Welsh 
Exports (£000)

% of total 
Welsh exports

Value of UK 
exports (£000)

% of Total UK 
exports

Welsh exports as a 
percentage of UK 
exports

Japan 226783 1.37% 5877264 1.77% 3.86%
Canada 380154 2.29% 5237540 1.58% 7.26%
Singapore 211787 1.28% 4841549 1.46% 4.37%
Australia 145788 0.88% 4531158 1.37% 3.22%
Mexico 56861 0.34% 1559314 0.47% 3.65%
Vietnam 11547 0.07% 582190 0.18% 1.98%
Malaysia 50612 0.31% 1375396 0.42% 3.68%
New Zealand 20166 0.12% 903482 0.27% 2.23%
Chile 5442 0.03% 612616 0.18% 0.89%
Peru 2458 0.01% 170224 0.05% 1.44%

Tudalen y pecyn 117



Welsh and UK Imports from CPTPP Countries- Year to Q2 2018 

 

Source: HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 

 

Source: HMRC regional trade statistics 

Of the CPTPP countries, Japan and Canada dominate in terms of importance for 
Welsh trade, both in terms of imports and exports. 2.3% of total Welsh exports are 
exported to Japan and around 1.3% to Canada, whilst Wales relies on Japan and 
Canada for 3% and 2.6% of its imports respectively.   

 

Country
Value of Welsh 
Imports (£000)

% of total 
Welsh imports

Value of UK 
imports (£000)

% of Total UK 
imports

Welsh imports as a 
percentage of UK 
imports

Japan 534565 3.02% 9194516 1.96% 5.81%
Canada 462216 2.61% 4815381 1.02% 9.60%
Singapore 165056 0.93% 3063546 0.65% 5.39%
Australia 82090 0.46% 2081108 0.44% 3.94%
Mexico 52593 0.30% 1258691 0.27% 4.18%
Vietnam 43486 0.25% 4329869 0.92% 1.00%
Malaysia 38326 0.22% 1769925 0.38% 2.17%
New Zealand 11243 0.06% 886863 0.19% 1.27%
Chile 9082 0.05% 822090 0.17% 1.10%
Peru 4312 0.02% 335051 0.07% 1.29%

3.0%

2.6%

0.9%

0.5% 0.3%
0.2% 0.2%

0.1% 0.1% 0.0%

2.3%

1.3%

0.9%

0.3%

0.1%
0.3%

0.1% 0.0% 0.0%
0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

Japan Canada Singapore Australia Mexico Vietnam Malaysia New
Zealand

Chile Peru

Proportion of Total Welsh Imports and Exports 
from CPTPP region

(Year to Q2 2018)

Imports Exports

Tudalen y pecyn 118



Source: HMRC regional trade statistics 

In the last three years Welsh good imports from CPTPP countries were dominated by 
Metalliferous ores & metal scrap worth an average of £278m a year, followed by Power 
generating machinery & equipment worth a £193.6m a year.    

Source: HMRC Regional Trade Statistics 

In the last three years Welsh good exports to CPTPP countries were dominated by 
Power generating machinery and equipment worth an average of £200m a year, 
followed by Petroleum, petroleum products and related materials worth a £130.5m a 
year.    

 

 

£278m

£193.6m

£70.1m

£67.6m

£66.5m

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Metalliferous ores & metal scrap

Power generating machinery & equipment

Petroleum, petroleum products & related materials

Ele machinery, app & appliances & ele pt thereof…

Coal, coke & briquettes

Top Welsh Import Sectors from CPTPP Countries  
2015-2017

Welsh Imports to CPTPP Countries

£200m

£130.5m

£74.1m

£73.5m

£55.9m

0 50 100 150 200 250

Power generating machinery & equipment

Petroleum, petroleum products & related materials

Metalliferous ores & metal scrap

Ele machinery, app & appliances & ele pt thereof…

Professional, scientific & controlling ins & app n.e.s.

Top Welsh Export sectors to CPTPP countries 
2015-2017

Welsh exports to CPTPP countries

Tudalen y pecyn 119



 

Trade in Services 

Whilst the ONS have produced estimates of Welsh services exports to CPTPP 
countries, published as experimental statistics in 201514, figures are only available for 
Canada and Japan (for some but not all sectors).  For the remaining CPTPP countries, 
the data is either not available or is supressed due to disclosure rules.  To date, there 
are no available data sources on service imports for Wales.   

FDI 

There are 127 active companies in Wales owned by CPTPP countries.  These are 
distributed across various Welsh sectors as follows:  

Number of CPTPP owned companies Sector 
45 Advanced Materials and Manufacturing  
5 Construction 
5 Creative Industries 
17 Energy & Environment 
14 Financial & Professional Services 
8 Food & Farming 
15 Information & Communication 

Technology 
6 Life Sciences 
5 Retail & Logistics 
4  Tourism 
3 Other 
  

127 Total 
Source: Welsh Government 

 

 

                       
14 2015 is the latest year for which Welsh trade in services data broken down by destination is available.    

Tudalen y pecyn 120



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 121

Eitem 6Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 132

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 146

Eitem 7 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 152

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Sesiwn graffu gyda Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol
	Y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf ynglŷn â gadael yr Undeb Ewropeaidd (Saesneg yn unig)

	3.1 Papur i'w nodi 1 - Gohebiaeth gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol i'r Prif Weinidog ynglŷn â chraffu ar ddeddfwriaeth sy'n gysylltiedig â Brexit - 6 Chwefror 2019
	3.2 Papur i'w nodi 2 - Gohebiaeth gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Cyfansoddiadol a Deddfwriaethol i'r Arglwydd Boswell ynghylch cysylltiadau rhyng-sefydliadol y DU a’r UE  ar ôl-Brexit - 12 Chwefror 2019
	3.3 Papur i'w nodi 3 - Cydsyniad deddfwriaethol: y Bil Masnach - Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog dros Gysylltiadau Rhyngwladol i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch Bil Masnach y DU - Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol - 15 Chwefror 2019
	Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 2): y Bil Masnach

	3.4 Papur i'w nodi 4 - Gohebiaeth gan y Farwnes Fairhead i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch y Bil Masnach - 19 Chwefror 2019
	3.5 Papur i'w nodi 5 - Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Cysylltiadau Rhyngwladol a'r Gymraeg i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch cytundebau rhyngwladol - 26 Chwefror 2019
	Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Cysylltiadau Rhyngwladol a'r Gymraeg i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch cytundebau rhyngwladol - 26 Chwefror 2019 - Atodiad C - llythyr gan yr Adran Masnach a Diwydiant (Saesneg yn unig)
	Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Cysylltiadau Rhyngwladol a'r Gymraeg i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch cytundebau rhyngwladol - 26 Chwefror 2019 - Atodiad C - ymateb i'r Adran Masnach a Diwydiant (Saesneg yn unig)
	Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Cysylltiadau Rhyngwladol a'r Gymraeg i'r Cadeirydd ynghylch cytundebau rhyngwladol - Atodiad D - ymateb i'r Adran Masnach a Diwydiant (Saesneg yn unig)

	6 Amserlen ar gyfer trafod y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol i'r Bil Masnach
	Papur y Gwasanaeth Ymchwil – y Bil Masnach - 27 Tachwedd 2017 (Saesneg yn unig)

	7 Ystyried dull y Pwyllgor o graffu ar gytundebau rhyngwladol a osodwyd gerbron Senedd y DU
	Craffu ar drefniadau rhyngwladol: 4 Mawrth 2019 (Saesneg yn unig)


